Effect of roots on artemisinin and flavonoid production in shoots of

Artemisia annua.

By

Sibo Wang

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of

WORCESTER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

In

Biology and Biotechnology

May 2015

Sibo Wan

Sibo Wang

PROVED

Dr. Pamela J. Weathers, Advisor

Dr. Kristin K. Wobbe, Committee Member

Dr. Luis Vidali, Committee Member

Abstract

Artemisinin is a potent antimalarial sesquiterpene lactone produced and stored in the glandular trichomes (GLTs) of Artemisia annua. Although they produce no artemisinin, nor any of the precursor compounds, A. annua roots appear to have a regulatory effect on production of the terpene in leaves. However, more information is needed to define the role of the roots in artemisinin production in the plant. Grafting among three cultivars was used to measure phenotypic responses: SAM, and #15 cultivars both have GLTs, but produce artemisinin at 1.49% and 0.57% DW, respectively; GLS cultivar produces neither GLTs nor artemisinin. Compared to ungrafted plants, all self-grafts, e.g. SAM/SAM (scion/rootstock), increased scion artemisinin probably from grafting stress. SAM/#15 grafts yielded less artemisinin than SAM/SAM, but more than either #15/#15 or ungrafted #15 and SAM suggesting rootstock inhibition of the scion. SAM/SAM also had more artemisinin than #15/SAM, which was also greater than either #15/#15 or ungrafted #15 and SAM. The #15/SAM graft also produced more artemisinin than SAM/#15, and with the other grafting results suggested that SAM roots were stimulating artemisinin production in the #15 scion. There was no appearance of either GLTs or artemisinin when GLS scions were grafted to SAM indicating that GLTs had to be present to receive putative signals from SAM rootstocks. Furthermore, artemisinic acid and arteannuin B were only present in SAM scions and not scions of #15 suggesting a block in one of the side pathways of artemisinin biosynthesis. Other artemisinic metabolites, total flavonoids, and GLTs numbers were also measured. The various phenotypes were analyzed several months after grafting indicating a persistent change and suggesting a possible epigenetic alteration of the scion. This study will provide fundamental information regarding the role that roots play in the production of artemisinin in the shoots of A. annua.

Acknowledgements

I appreciate all the people who have ever helped me complete my MS project in the past two years. First of all, I would like to express sincere gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Pamela Weathers, for her guidance, support and encouragement. The most valuable thing she taught me is how to develop logical, independent and critical thinking in my research. Besides, her admirable personal qualities, firm and tenacious perseverance and assiduous attitude towards work and research, she deeply influenced on my attitude to life and work. I hope to be a person like her, to pursue self-dreams and never give up!

Secondly, I would like to deeply thank my committee members, Dr. Kristin Wobbe and Dr. Luis Vidali, for their helpful suggestions and constructive ideas to my project, especially on experimental design and figure pattern.

Thirdly, I would like to thank to the present and previous lab members, for your valuable help and suggestion for my project, I saved a lot of time and you inspired me with more innovative ideas. I sincerely appreciate Dr. Melissa Towler for all the huge help she provided for me. She was very nice and patient person. I want to thank her for those good ideas and teaching me all the related experimental skill and how to use experimental apparatus in my project. I would also like to thank Liwen Fei and Ying Yang. They were really like my elder sisters and gave me a lot of help and care on life and study. What's more, I would like to thank all the other lab members in our lab; your wonderful questions and ideas made me come up with new ideas for my project.

In addition, I wanted to thank WPI for giving me a valuable chance to study here and work with these excellent people! Also, I would like to thank the National Institutes of Health (NIH-2R15GM069562-03) for funding my project.

Lastly, huge and sincerely thanks must go to my family and close friends for their support and encouragement. Whatever difficulties I encountered, family love and friendships were always along with me to face and overcome challenges of during the past two years! Because I always believe that 99% difficulties are of our own imagination !

Π

Table of contents

Abstract	I
Acknowledgements	II
Table of contents	III
Abbreviations Used	V
List of figures	VI
List of Tables	VII
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Malaria	1
1.2 Artemisia annua L	2
1.3 Artemisinin, ACTs and synthetic Artemisinin	3
1.4 Artemisinin delivered via oral consumption of A. annua dried leaves	5
1.5 Secondary metabolite biosynthesis in A. annua L	6
1.5.1 Artemisinin biosynthesis and its regulation	6
1.5.2 Flavonoids and flavonoid biosynthesis	9
1.5.2.1 Flavonoid biosynthetic pathway and regulation	9
1.5.3 Flavonoids in A. annua and synergy with artemisinin	
1.6 Trichome types, functions and development in A. annua L	
1.7 Roots affect artemisinin production on shoots	
1.8 Signaling molecules that may affect artemisinin biosynthesis	
1.8.1 Phytohormones	14
1.8.1.1 Gibberellic acid	
1.8.1.2 Cytokinins	
1.8.1.3 Jasmonic acid	
1.8.1.4 Salicylic acid	
1.8.1.5 Abscisic acid	
1.8.2 Transcription factors	17
1.8.3 Small RNAs	
1.8.4 Other possible signal elements	20
1.8.4.1 Flavonoids	
1.8.4.2 Sugars	
1.8.4.3 Protein	
1.9 Grafting as tool to study root-shoot interactions	
2. Hypothesis and Objectives	25
2.1 Hypothesis	
2.2 Objectives	25
3. Materials and methods	

3.1 Plant material and cultivation conditions	26
3.2 Grafting methods	26
3.3 Harvest, extraction, and analysis of metabolites	28
3.4 Artemisinic metabolite analysis	28
3.5 Total flavonoid analysis	30
3.6 Glandular trichome analysis	31
3.7 Statistical methods	31
4. Results	32
4.1 Vegetative phenotypes among different grafted A. annua cultivars	32
4.2 Glandular trichome development among grafted A. annua cultivars	32
4.3 Artemisinic metabolite levels among different grafted and ungrafted A. annua cul	ltivars 35
4.4 Flavonoid levels among different grafted A. annua cultivars	41
4.5 Artemisinin and flavonoids in glandular trichome	42
5. Discussion	45
5.1 Rootstock effects on shoot biomass and morphology	45
5.2 Rootstock effects on trichome size and populations	47
5.3 Rootstock effects on flavonoids	48
5.4 Rootstock effects on artemisinic metabolites	49
5.5 Phenotype duration	52
6. Conclusions and Future Work	53
6.1 Conclusions	53
6.2 Future work	53
7. References:	54
8. Appendix	67

Abbreviations Used

AA: artemisinic acid; AAA: artemisinic aldehyde; AB: arteannuin B; ABA: Abscisic acid; AACT: acetoacetyl-CoA thiolase; ACT: artemisinin combination therapy; DHAA: dihydroartemisinic acid; DHAAA: dihydroartemisinic aldehyde; DHOH: dihydroartemisinic alcohol; DeoxyAN: deoxyartemisinin; GLT: glandular trichomes; GLS: glandless *A. annua* cultivar; JA: Jasmonic acid; L10: leaf 10; MEP: plastidial Methyl-erythritol-4-phosphate; MVA: cytosolic acetate-mevalonate; nS: ungrafted SAM cultivar; n15: ungrafted #15 cultivar; nG: ungrafted glandless cultivar; ROS: reactive oxygen species; ShAM: shoot apical meristem; SA: Salicylic acid; S:SAM *A. annua* cultivar; TFs: transcription factors; pACT: whole plant therapy; 15: #15 *A. annua* cultivar.

List of Figures

Figure 1 An illustration of the life cycle of the parasites that cause malaria2
Figure 2 Artemisia annua plant and trichomes4
Figure 3 Artemisinin biosynthetic pathway8
Figure 4 Flavonoids biosynthetic pathway11
Figure 5 Schematic of main grafting methods24
Figure 6 Grafting and experimental schematic28
Figure 7 Grafted <i>Artemisia annua</i> plant with ShAM and leaf numbers as need in this experiment
Figure 8 Representative examples of vegetative phenotypes among different grafted and ungrafted <i>A.annua</i> cultivars
Figure 9 Comparative phenotypes of shoot and floral buds
Figure 10 Comparison of leaves of biomass individual among different grafted and ungrafted cultivars
Figure 11 GLT population density
Figure 12 Comparison of glandular and filamentous trichomes among different kinds of grafted cultivars
Figure 13 Artemisinic metabolite levels as leaves develop to leaf 14 for grafted and ungrafted <i>A. annua</i> cultivars
Figure 14 Flavonoid levels as leaves matured from ShAM to leaf 14 among different ungrafted and grafted <i>A. annua</i> cultivars42
Figure 15 Aretemisinin and flavonoids level in per GLT in Leaf 10 among different ungrafted and grafted <i>A. annua</i> cultivars43
Figure 16 Coefficient of leaf biomass and leaf area among different grafted and ungrafted cultivars67
Figure 17 GLT population density

List of Tables

Table 1. Possible mobile elements in A. annua	22
Table 2. Three clonal cultivars of A. annua L. used in this study	26
Table 3. Grafts used in this study (scion/rootstock) with experimental rationale	27

1. Introduction

1.1 Malaria

Malaria is a serious infectious and potentially fatal vector-born disease in many parts of the world. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimated there were 198 million cases of malaria and more than 584,000 deaths, mainly African children (WHO, 2014a). Even if children survive this disease, most of them often are inflicted with brain damage and learning impairments (Malaria 2011). In general, the parasite species, the vector, the human host, and the environment decide the infection intensity of malaria (WHO, 2014a).

Malaria caused by *Plasmodium falciparum* is the most deadly form of malaria found in sub-Saharan Africa (Malaria 2011). In recent years, however, some human malaria cases have also been caused by *Plasmodium knowlesi*, a species that previously only caused malaria among monkeys and occurs in certain forested areas of South-East Asia (WHO, 2014a). *Anopheles* mosquitoes carry the infective sporozoite stage in their salivary glands and inject sporozoites into the human blood stream during a blood meal. Currently, scientists have found about 20 different *Anopheles* species around the world. Infection is more intense in places where the lifespan of the mosquito is longer, which allows the parasite adequate time to complete its development inside the mosquito. Mosquito species, *Anopheles*, prefer to bite humans rather than other animals so this results in more intense transmission. For example, about 90% of the world's malaria deaths are caused by the long lifespan and strong human-biting habit of the African vector species (Okwa 2012).

Malaria epidemics generally happen in areas where people have little or no immunity to malaria. Partial immunity is developed over years of exposure, however, there is not complete protection, so infection can reoccur or become sever leading even to cerebral malaria. For this reason, Human malaria is mainly caused by several *Plasmodium* species: *P. vivax*, *P. malariae*, *P. ovale*, *P. falciparum*, and *P. vivax* are the most common (Perandin et al. 2004). Once parasites enter the blood stream, they will first migrate to and reproduce in the liver, after which they will continue infecting red blood cells (Fig.1). If there is no treatment, these infections will progress to the next stage referred to as the 'blood stage'. Debilitating symptoms occur from

destruction of red blood cells, which disintegrate and clog capillaries that lead to the brain or other vital organs (Malaria 2011) (Fig.1). Symptoms including vomiting, headache, fever, as well as other flu-like symptoms of malaria usually appear 9-14 days after the individual has been bitten. If there is no treatment or if malarial drug resistance is present, the disease progresses to a severe level often leading to death if within 24 hours there is no therapy (Kim and Schneider 2013). Lethality of the disease results from developing one or more of the following symptoms: severe anemia, respiratory distress in relation to metabolic acidosis, or cerebral malaria (WHO, 2014b).



Figure 1 An illustration of the life cycle of the parasites that cause malaria. (Taken from http://www.cdc.gov/malaria/about/biology/)

1.2 Artemisia annua L.

The herb *Artemisia annua* L. (Fig.2A) was initially used as a tea infusion in Chinese traditional medicine as a treatment for fever and malaria for more than 2,000 years (Klayman 1985). Artemisinin (AN) was originally extracted from *A. annua* by Chinese scientists more than 30 years ago in a search for new antimalarial drugs. AN is delivered in concert with other

antimalarial drug, for example artesunate or amodiaquine, as the current preferred treatment as artemisinin-based combination therapy (ACT). The use of ACTs is to avoid emergence of AN drug resistance, and to treat chloroquine resistant and cerebral malaria (Martensson et al. 2005).

A. annua is cultivated mainly in China and Vietnam, which produces about 80% of the global supply; the remaining 20% is produced in East Africa (Shretta and Yadav 2012). The plant is an annual herbaceous plant in the family Asteraceae. *A. annua* can grow to 2 meter in height and can be found in temperate regions of China, Vietnam, India, Russia, East Africa, the United States, and Brazil (Bhakuni et al. 1988).

1.3 Artemisinin, ACTs and synthetic Artemisinin

In the late 1950s, chloroquine was the main effective medicine used for malaria treatment by the WHO, but its long-term use drove development of drug-resistant parasites, and an apparent resurgence of malaria worldwide. In the 1970s, Chinese chemists isolated and identified the primary substance responsible for the anti-malarial action of *A. annua*, artemisinin (AN), and it soon replaced chloroquine. Although pure AN is very effective treatment and against malaria, its yield from *A. annua* is unfortunately low (0.5–1.2%) and it remains expensive for many people in developing countries (Kindermans et al. 2007).

Artemisinin is produced solely in shoots of glandular trichomes (GLTs) of this species. (Duke et al. 1994; Olsson et al. 2009) (Fig.2B). Besides its anti-malaria activity, AN may also be effective against other human diseases like schistosomiasis, hepatitis B, and leukemia, breast, colon and small-cell lung carcinomas (Firestone and Sundar 2009; Lai et al. 2013; Fox et al. 2014).



Figure 2 *Artemisia annua* **plant and trichomes.** A, *Artemisia annua* (SAM cultivar). B, an illustration showing localization of pathway enzymes in the glandular trichome cells. C, the glandular trichomes are visualized using fluorescence microscopy; D, filamentous trichomes, *bar* 0.1mm.

ACTs for anti-malarials have since been adopted by most countries, and are effective against both chloroquine-resistant and sensitive strains of *P. falciparum* as well as cerebral malaria with a high safety profile. In addition, ACTs are the first line of malaria treatment recommended by WHO to address the chloroquine resistance of *P. falciparum* (Klein 2013). Although ACTs are effective treatments, they cost ≥ 20 times more than monotherapies. Due to the high cost of production and low yield of the active drug, at best approximately 1.4% of the plant leaf mass (Kindermans et al. 2007; Towler and Weathers 2015), investigators have searched for a way to mass produce AN for a lower cost and to meet the market demand (Zeng et al. 2008; Lévesque and Seeberger 2012; Wang et al. 2014). Until recently, AN industrial production mainly depends on extraction from the plant and synthetic microbe-derived artemisinin. Considering the increasing demand and low yields of AN, investigators are looking for various methods to increase the AN production, such as chemical synthesis (Zhu and Cook 2012) and use of genetically-modified microbes (Paddon and Keasling 2014). In 2014, Sanofi (Paris-based pharmaceutical company) began industrial-scale production of artemisinin-using a genetically engineered yeast strain that could produce artemisinic acid, a precursor in semi-synthesis of artemisinin. Initial cost is about \$350-400 (£230 –260)/kg for producing AN, roughly the same as the botanical source (Peplow 2013).

1.4 Artemisinin delivered via oral consumption of A. annua dried leaves

Recently, some experimental data suggested that oral consumption of the dried leaves of *A*. *annua* might be more effective than treatment with the pure drug. It is hypothesized that the complex mixture of phytochemicals in the leaves may enhance AN efficacy (Weathers et al. 2014). This therapeutic approach is called plant artemisinin combination therapy (pACT), which may also be more effective than ACT.

Evidence from animal studies indicated that whole plant therapies (pACT) work as posited. When mice were fed AN, there was \geq 40 fold more AN from oral ingested dried *A. annua* leaves found in the blood than in serum of mice fed equal amounts of pure AN (Weathers et al. 2011). Additionally, Elfawal et al. (2012) showed that orally ingested powdered dried leaves of *A. annua* could kill the malaria parasite more effectively than a comparable dose of the pure drug. Therefore, pACT has the potential to increase the number of patients treated each year with malaria by reducing the cost of drug production and by providing more doses per acre because the associated losses from extraction are eliminated. Compared to pure AN, Elfawal et al. (2015) also recently showed that pACT was three fold less likely to induce AN drug resistance, probably a result of the diversity of non-artemisinin anti-malarial phytochemicals in the plant (Weathers et al. 2014), Implementation of pACT can stimulate the economies of developing nations by locally cultivating the plant, processing the plant material, and distributing the pACT, thereby creating jobs (Elfawal et al. 2012). About 60% of global AN yields still comes from the extraction from plants (Chemistryworld 2013). Hence, enhancement of the AN content in *A. annua* is considered important for reducing the cost of artemisinin and increasing its supply. To improve AN production, a better understanding of the regulation of AN biosynthetic pathway could provide new information for breeding *A. annua* with higher levels of AN.

1.5 Secondary metabolite biosynthesis in *A. annua* L

1.5.1 Artemisinin biosynthesis and its regulation

AN is bio-synthesized through the isoprenoid metabolic pathway from precursors produced in the cytosolic and plastid compartments of *A. annua* glandular secretory trichomes (Towler and Weathers 2007; Schramek et al. 2010). In general, three isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP) precursor molecules are condensed and oxidized to produce AN (Bouwmeester et al. 1999; Towler and Weathers 2007). IPP is produced through two pathways: the cytosolic mevalonate (MVA) pathway and/or the plastidic non-mevalonate (MEP) pathway (Fig.3). The MEP terpenoid pathway is regulated by 1-deoxyxylulose 5-phosphate synthase (DXS), and 1deoxyxylulouse 5-phosphate reductoisomerase (DXR). The MVP pathway is mainly regulated by 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase (HMGR). Farnesyl diphosphate is then produced via farnesyl diphosphate synthase (FPS) (Souret et al. 2003) (Fig.3).

In AN biosynthesis, farnesyl diphosphate (FPP) was catalyzed by amorpha-4,11-diene synthase (ADS) to form amorpha-4,11-diene, a sesquiterpene cyclase (Bouwmeester et al. 1999; Wallaart et al. 2001). This is the first step of AN biosynthesis (Bouwmeester et al. 1999; Mercer et al. 2007; Wallaart et al. 2001). The next, two reactions are the oxidation of amorpha-4,11-diene to artemisinic aldehyde and to artemisinic aldehyde (AAA) and are catalyzed by a cytochrome P450 dependent amorpha-4,11-diene 12-hydroxylase CYP71AV1 (CYP) (Teoh et al. 2006). From there, the biosynthetic pathway branches; one route leads to AN and the other to arteannuin B (AB).

For the route to AN, artemisinic aldehyde is converted to dihydroartemisinic aldehyde (DHAAA) by a double-bond reductase (Dbr2) and then oxidized to dihydroartemisinic acid

(DHAA) by aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 (ALDH1) (Teoh et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2008b). DHAAA is also reduced to dihydroartemisinic alcohol (DHOH) via dihydroartemisinic aldehyde reductase RED1 (Rydén et al. 2010), which is not yet well studied *in planta*. Then, DHAA is converted to AN or deoxyartemisinin (deoxyAN) by a nonenzymatic photo-oxidation reaction. It has not been completely verified if this reaction is also nonenzymatic *in vivo*. Arsenault et al. (2010) showed that the transcription level of related genes, such as amorpha-4,11-diene synthase (ADS) and the cytochrome P450, CYP71AV1 (CYP), in the AN biosynthetic pathway closely correlated with precursors level of AN, DHAA. Trichome numbers also seemed to be correlated with the AN level but not its precursors. Feedback inhibition was also observed. When leaves of *A. annua* were sprayed with exogenous AN or AA, *CYP* transcription was inhibited; AA also inhibited *ADS* transcription. Together these results suggested a negative feedback loop of AN and AA on *ADS* and *CYP* genes, thereby regulating AN and its precursors (Arsenault et al. 2010).

For the route to AB, the intermediate DHAAA is oxidized by CYP or an aldehyde dehydrogenase (Aldh1) to form artemisinic acid (AA), then AA is converted to arteannuin B (AB) also in a non-enzymatic photo-oxygenic reaction (Brown 2010). So far, there is no evidence for conversion of AB to AN in *A. annua*. Brown and Sy (2007) investigated and also concluded that there is no evidence conversion of AA to AN. Thus, it is currently thought that $AA \rightarrow AB$ represents a separate branch in the AN biosynthetic pathway.



Figure 3 Artemisinin biosynthetic pathway. AA, artemisinic acid; AAA, artemisinic aldehyde; AACT, acetoacetyl-CoA thiolase; AAOH, artemisinic alcohol; AB, arteannuin B; ADS, amorpha-4, 11-diene synthase; AN, artemisinin; CYP, cytochrome P450; CYP71AV1, cytochrome P450-dependent hydroxylase;

CMK, 4-(cytidine-5'-diphospho)-2-C-methyl-d-Erythritol kinase;

CMS, 4-Diphosphocytidyl-2C-methyl-d-erythritol 4-phosphate synthase; DBR2 double bond reductase 2; DHAA, dihydroartemisinic acid; DHAAA, dihydroartemisinic aldehyde; DHOH, dihydroartemisinic alcohol; DeoxyAN, deoxyartemisinin; DXR, 1-deoxyxylulouse 5-phosphate reductoisomerase; DXS, 1-deoxyxylulose 5-phosphate synthase; FPS, farnesyl diphosphate synthase; FPP, farnesyl pyrophosphate; HBMPP, 4-hydroxy-3-methylbut-2-enyl diphosphate; HDS, 4-Hydroxy-3-methylbut2-en-yl-diphosphate synthase;

HMGR, 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase; HMGS, HMG-CoA synthase; HMG-CoA, 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA; IDS, IPP/DMAPP synthase; MCS, 2C-methyl-d-erythritol 2,4-cyclodiphosphate synthase; MDC, mevalonate 5-diphosphate decarboxylase; MK, mevalonate kinase; MPK, phosphomevalonate kinase;

MEP, plastidial Methyl-erythritol-4-phosphate (MEP) (plastid pathway); MVA, cytosolic acetate-mevalonate (MVA) pathways; RED1, dihydroartemisinic aldehyde reductase 1

1.5.2 Flavonoids and flavonoid biosynthesis

Flavonoids are general phenolic compounds based on a 15 carbon (C6-C3-C6) structure and they comprise pigments that color most flowers, fruits, seeds and leaves. Flavonoids are low molecular weight secondary metabolites that are not deemed essential for plant survival. They are classified into six main subgroups: chalcones, flavones, flavonols, flavandiols, anthocyanins, and proanthocyanidins or condensed tannins; in some species, a seventh group is found, the aurones (Winkel-Shirley 2001; Winkel 2006; Saito et al. 2013).

Currently, over 10,000 structural variants of flavonoids have been reported (Williams and Grayer, 2004). Their synthesis appears to be ubiquitous in plants and evolved early during land plant evolution, aiding in plant protection and signaling (Buer et al. 2010; Pollastri and Tattini 2011). Flavonoids have diverse biological functions *in planta*, including protection against ultraviolet (UV) radiation and phytopathogens, signaling during nodulation, male fertility, auxin transport, as well as pollinator attractants (Bohm 1998; Winkel-Shirley 2001; Koes et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2009). Flavonoids also have a wide spectrum of pharmacological uses in traditional Chinese medicine (Zhang and Ye 2009). Flavonoils are probably the most important flavonoids participating in stress responses; they are the most ancient and widespread flavonoids, having a wide range of potent physiological activities (Stafford 1991; Pollastri and Tattini 2011). When ingested by animals and humans, flavonoids seem to have important antiviral, anti-allergic, anti-inflammatory, antitumor, and antioxidant activities (Miranda et al. 2000).

1.5.2.1 Flavonoid biosynthetic pathway and regulation

Flavonoid biosynthesis is one of the best-characterized secondary metabolic pathways in plants. Related enzymes in this biosynthetic pathway generate a super-molecular complex through protein-protein interactions and are localized in the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum (Samanta et al. 2011). The key precursors for the synthesis of flavonoids are the amino acid phenylalanine (Phe) and malonyl-CoA produced from the shikimate and the TCA pathways (Samanta et al. 2011). Additionally, environmental factors, such as atmospheric CO₂,

ozone (O3) levels, UV light, and temperature to some extent influence the enzymatic activity of flavonoid biosynthesis (Cheng et al. 2012; Saito et al. 2013).

Flavonoid biosynthesis in plants generally involves the phenylpropanoid pathway (Fig. 4A), where first Phe is transformed into cinnamic acid by phenylalanine-ammonia lyase (PAL) a tetrameric, generally ubiquitous enzyme in the plant kingdom. In the second step, cinnamate 4-hydroxylase (C4H) catalyzes the hydroxylation of trans-cinnamic acid to generate *p*-coumaric acid (Samanta et al. 2011; López-Gresa et al. 2011; Ferreyra et al. 2012). Next, the hydroxycinnamic acid *p*-coumaric acid is converted to 4-coumaroyl-CoA mediated by *p*-coumarate CoA ligase (4CL). Then one molecule of *p*-coumaroyl-CoA condenses with three molecules of malonyl-CoA in the presence of chalcone synthase (CHS) resulting in the production of chalcone, the first true product of the flavonoid pathway. The enzyme chalcone isomerase (CHI) then catalyzes flavanone from chalcone. Flavanones undergo a variety of reactions including hydroxylation to yield dihydroflavonols catalyzed by flavanone hydroxylase (F3H), further leading to flavanols and anthocyanins, or to flavonols and their glucosides. Flavanones also can convert to other flavonoids molecules including flavones, isflavones or flavan-4-ols (Rangarajan et al. 2004; Samanta et al. 2011).

1.5.3 Flavonoids in *A. annua* and synergy with artemisinin

A.annua L. contains at least six main specific flavonoids, artemetin (ART), casticin (CAS), chrysoplenetin (CRY), chrysoplenol-D (CRYD), cirsilineol (CIR), and eupatorin (EUP) (Fig. 4B), that have been shown *in vitro* to work synergistically with AN to treat *P. falciparum* malaria (Elford et al. 1987; Liu et al. 1992). When each of these six methoxylated flavones was combined individually with AN, the IC50 of AN against *P. falciparum* decreased by 20–50%, demonstrating an apparent synergy with AN (Liu et al. 1992). Interestingly, Elford et al. (1987) also showed that casticin could synergistically aid with AN to kill *P. falciparum*, however, it did not keep the synergism with chloroquine, suggesting a different interactive mechanism between AN and chloroquine. Casticin and AN controlled the influx of



Figure 4 Flavonoids biosynthetic pathway. A, Simplified FLV biosynthetic pathway. PAL, phenylalanine ammonia lyase; C4H, cinnamate 4-hydroxylase; 4CL, 4-coumarate coenzyme A ligase; CHS, chalcone synthase; CHI, chalcone isomerase; F3H, flavanone hydroxylase; NAPDH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate. B, structure of six known synergistic flavonoids found in *A. annua*.

L-glutamine and myo-inositol lead to an inhibition of parasite-mediated transport systems by in erythrocytes infected with malaria parasites. This apparent synergistic action between AN and flavonoids suggested that flavonoids could be a component of the enhanced anti-malaria activity of in pACT (Weathers et al. 2014).

1.6 Trichome types, functions and development in A. annua L.

Trichomes on plants are small epidermal outgrowths of various kinds, which originate from epidermal cells of leaves, stems, and flowers. Trichomes range in size, shape, number of cells and morphology, as well as composition, from long cotton fibers, which are seed trichomes, to tiny bumps on the surface of a leaf. Trichomes have a variety of structural classifications including unicellular or multicellular, branched or unbranched, and glandular or non-glandular (Duke et al. 1994; Ferreira and Janick 1996). Trichomes provide many plants their distinctive look and smell, which aid in plant identification (Schilmiller et al. 2008).

Glandular secretory trichomes have the capacity to synthesize, store and sometimes secrete large amounts of specialized metabolites, including various classes of terpenes, phenylpropanoid, acyl sugars, methylketones, and flavonoids (Gang et al. 2001; Kroumova and Wagner 2003; Li and Steffens 2000; Voirin et al. 1993). Additionally, compounds in trichomes have enormous commercial value including as pharmaceuticals, fragrances, food additives, and natural pesticides (Duke et al. 2000; Wagner et al. 2004), and the prospect of exploiting glandular secretory trichomes as 'chemical factories' to produce high-value plant products has recently caught the attention of plant biotechnologists (Schilmiller et al. 2008).

In *A. annua*, two types of trichomes are present, biseriate peltate glandular trichomes (GLTs) and filamentous trichomes (FLTs) composed of stalk cells and an elongated T-shape cell (Fig.2C and D). However, artemisinin is detected only in the presence of GLTs. The biseriate GLTs of *A. annua* are comprised of two stalk cells, two basal cells, and three pairs of secretory cells (Duke and Paul 1993) (Fig.2B). AN and other mono and sesquiterpenoids are excreted into and stored in the subcuticular space of GLTs (Duke 1994; Tellez et al. 1999).

Since GLTs of *A. annua* are the sites of AN synthesis, it should be expected that the presence of more trichomes should result in more AN produced, and indeed, there is a strong correlation

between AN level and trichome density (Kapoor et al. 2007; Arsenault et al. 2010; Nguyen et al. 2011; Nguyen et al. 2013). Younger leaves also develop more trichomes and produce more AN than older leaves (Ferreira and Janick 1996; Nguyen et al. 2013). Lommen et al. (2006) further found that a higher GLT density and a higher capacity to produce AN per trichome in the upper leaves of the plant. Other leaf traits, such as perimeter, area and architecture, have also been targeted for increasing AN production (Graham et al. 2010).

1.7 Roots affect artemisinin production on shoots

AN is produced in shoots and sequestered to glandular trichomes (Duke and Paul 1993; Ferreira and Janick 1995). Despite the absence of AN and its precursor in the roots of A. annua (Duke and Paul 1993; Ferreira and Janick 1995, 1996), roots seem to play a pivotal role in regulating the production of this important secondary metabolite. Ferreira and Janick (1996) showed that when in vitro-cultured A. annua shoots developed roots, shoots produced more AN than shoots that did not develop roots; a result confirmed by Nguyen et al. (2013). Kapoor et al. (2007) provided further evidence that AN concentration in shoots significantly increased after inoculation of A. annua with mycorrhizal fungi, likely the result of increased jasmonic acid production and subsequent up regulation of related genes in AN biosynthesis (Mandal et al. 2014). Mannan et al. (2010) also investigated the role of roots in AN production and concluded that only rooted-shoots significantly increased their AN concentration in response to DMSO elicitation, while AN in unrooted-shoot did not display the enhancement of their AN level in response to DMSO. Similar results were concluded by Nguyen et al. (2013), who showed that roots were needed to drive the final ROS reaction from AN precursor DHAA to AN. When roots were present, DHAA was low in shoots and AN remained high. In contrast, when root growth was restricted, DHAA was high but AN was low in shoots (Nguyen et al. 2013). In spite of producing no AN themselves, these studies suggested that roots play a role in AN production, and so my study further investigated the effect of roots on AN production in A, annua shoots.

1.8 Signaling molecules that may affect artemisinin biosynthesis

1.8.1 Phytohormones

Phytohormones in plants can modulate both the onset of trichome initiation and secondary metabolism at the transcriptional level (Pauwels et al. 2009; Maes et al. 2011). Plants have developed structurally diverse and tightly regulated secondary metabolites to battle against herbivores and pathogens (Bednarek and Osbourn 2009), and accumulation of these metabolites in plants is often regulated directly or indirectly by phytohormones. It is well established that the phytohormones cytokinins, gibberellic acid, jasmonate (JA), salicylic acid (SA), and abscisic acid (ABA) aid plants in survival from biotic and abiotic stresses through synthesis and accumulation of protective metabolites and proteins (Tuteja 2007; Wolucka et al. 2005; Yuan and Liu 2008)

1.8.1.1 Gibberellic acid

Gibberellic acid (GA₃) is a diterpene found in various plants and fungi and generated from geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate (GGPP), where IPP and FPP are precursors of both GA₃ and AN (Banyai et al. 2011). In *Arabidopsis*, trichome development requires GA signaling and GA response positively correlates with trichome populations (Chien and Sussex 1996; Perazza et al. 1999).

In *A. annua*, sesquiterpenoids are synthesized in the cytosol from IPP/DMAPP originating from both the MVA and MEP pathway (Towler and Weathers 2007; Schramek et al. 2010) (Fig.3). Maes et al. (2011) soil drenched and sprayed with 100 μ M GA₃ on low AN-producing and high AN-producing *A. annua* cultivars, and observed significant enhancement of filamentous trichome development, but only in the low AN-producing cultivar. Mansoori (2009) reported that GA₃ increased the activity of HMG-CoA reductase (HMGR), an important control point in the MVA pathway. Banyai et al. (2011) showed *FPS*, *ADS* and *CYP71AV1* transcripts increased 6 h after GA₃ treatment in *A. annua*, revealing the potential of exogenous GA₃ treatment for improvement of AN production as well as leaf biomass.

1.8.1.2 Cytokinins

The cytokinin, 6-benzylaminopurine (BAP), plays a positive role in regulating trichome development in *Arabidopsis* (Maes et al. 2008). In general, plants produce more trichomes per leaf after treatment with BAP, but they are shorter and their nuclear DNA content is less than in untreated plants, suggesting that BAP probably affects endoreduplication of nuclear DNA in trichome cells (Pattanaik et al. 2014). The expression of genes regulating trichome formation is also influenced by cytokinins (Gan and Mucke 2008; Zhou et al. 2013). Maes et al. (2011) showed that BAP increased both glandular and filamentous trichome development in both high and low AN-producing cultivars. Additionally, when Sa et al. (2001) constitutively expressed the *A. tumefaciens* cytokinin biosynthetic gene, *isopentenyl transferase (ipt)* in *A. annua*, the content of cytokinins, chlorophyll and artemisinin all increased *in vivo*. The above evidence strongly suggests that biosynthesis of AN is regulated by cytokinins.

1.8.1.3 Jasmonic acid

Jasmonic acid (JA) plays an important role in the regulation of gene and enzymes involved in biosynthesis, metabolism and signaling related to the wound response and some developmental processes. Additionally, JA also is a well-known secondary regulator that activates a plant's defense system against oxidative stress, inducing production of secondary metabolites (Van Nieuwerburgh and Veldkamp 2006). After spraying on plants, JA significantly increased newly produced leaves and trichome density in *Arabidopsis* (Traw and Bergelson 2003; An et al. 2011). Similarly, Mandal et al. (2014) observed that infections of mycorrhizal fungi increased JA leads, which subsequently significantly enhanced trichome number. JA seems to induce formation of glandular trichomes through the box protein CORONATINE INSENSITIVE 1 (COI 1), which is the central component of JA perception (Li et al. 2004; Sheard et al. 2010). In *Arabidopsis*, many transcription factors (TFs), such as MYB75, GL3 and EGL3 target JASMONATE ZIM-DOMAIN (JAZ) proteins that play a central role in signaling cascades triggered by jasmonates, and are also involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis and trichome initiation (Qi et al. 2011). In *A. annua*, GLTs are the site of AN biosynthesis and sequestration, hence, the density and size of GLTs usually correlate with the AN level. For example, Liu et al. (2009) observed that exogenous JA positively up regulate trichome density and AN levels compared to their controls. Moreover, in soil-grown plants AN level significantly increased compared to controls 6 days after treatment with 300 μ M methyl jasmonate (Wang et al. 2010a). JA also promoted expression of key genes of the AN biosynthetic pathway (Yu et al. 2011). Taken together the evidence indicates that JA is a likely signal element that regulates both glandular trichome formation and AN accumulation in GLTs (Maes et al. 2011).

1.8.1.4 Salicylic acid

Salicylic acid (SA) is one of the plant signals involved in defense (Durrant and Dong 2004). When exogenous SA was sprayed onto soil-grown *A. annua* plants, AN, AA, and DHAA all increased and the transcription levels of *ADS* and *HMGR* also showed significant enhancement; however, other related genes showed no response to the SA elicitation. After SA treatment, the ROS molecules, H₂O₂ and O₂⁻, in these plants significantly increased 4 h after spraying, coinciding with increased in AN (Pu et al. 2009). ROS is a modulator of cytokinins activation and is involved in the regulation of the plant defense system and also affects the secondary metabolism. Hence, SA and JA may both act as signal elements activating the ROS and defense system in plants and subsquently secondary metabolites, such as AN. Evidence suggestes that SA is a key signaling molecule with functions similar to JA in the induction of the defense system in *Arabidopsis* (An et al. 2011). In contrast to JA, however, SA seems to inhibit trichome production and thus may reduce the positive effects of JA on GLTs (Traw and Bergelson 2003).

1.8.1.5 Abscisic acid

Abscisic acid (ABA) is an important plant hormone involved with a role in mediating whole plant responses to drought and salt stresses (Zhang et al. 2006b). ABA is generally produced in roots and then transports up to the leaves as a chemical signal to report on the

water status of the soil. Hence, ABA plays a dominant role in root to shoot signaling under drought and in the control of stomatal conductance (Schachtman and Goodger 2008). ABA may also mediate some secondary metabolism. For example, when *Hyoscyamus muticus* was elicited by exogenous application of ABA to hairy roots, hyoscyamine accumulation level decreased (Vanhala et al. 1998). More important, exogenous application of 1-100 μ M ABA to soil-grown *A. annua* plants significantly increased in AN content compared to controls. At the same time, *HMGR*, *FPS*, and *CYP* transcripts also increased in ABA-treated *A. annua* plants (Jing et al. 2009).

1.8.2 Transcription factors

Although AN regulation of AN biosynthesis is not as well known as the pathway biosynthesis, a number of Transcription factors (TFs) have recently been identified in *A. annua*. Ma et al. (2009) isolated and charactered a TF (AaWRKY1) in *A. annua*. AaWRKY1 binds to the W-box cis-acting elements of the *ADS* promoter and regulates *ADS* gene expression and thus may affect AN biosynthesis (Ma et al. 2009). Han et al. (2014) found overexpressed AaWRKY1 in *A. annua* increased transcription of *CYP71AV1*. Trichome-specific overexpression of AaWRKY1 in GLTs was much more effective than that of constitutive overexpressing AaWRKY1 in whole plants. However, the transcription levels of *FDS*, *ADS*, and *DBR2* did not change with AaWRKY1 overexpression. On the other hand, AN level increased significantly with *CYP71AV1* up-regulation. Together those studies suggested that AaWRKY1 might be a signal factor involving in activating and promoting the transcription of *CYP71AV1*, thereby regulating AN biosynthesis.

In another report, Yu et al. (2011) showed that overexpression of the two AP2/ERF-type TFs, AaERF1 and AaERF2, belonging to the JA-responsive AP2 family of transcription factors, increased transcript levels of both *ADS* and *CYP71AV1*, resulting in increased accumulation of AN and AA in transgenic *A. annua* plants. Thus, the AP2/ERF TFs also may be signal elements in *A. annua*, possibly playing a role in up regulating AN biosynthesis. AaORA, another trichome-specific TF expressed in GLTs of *A. annua* (Lu et al. 2013). When the AaORA TF

overexpressed, *ADS*, *CYP71AV1* and *DBR2* genes in different tissues of *A. annua* showed similarly enhanced expression. RNA interference of AaORA decreased transcripts of *ADS*, *CYP71AV1*, *DBR2*, and *AaERF1* genes and also decreased the level of AN and DHAA (Lu et al. 2013). These results demonstrated that the AaORA TF is likely a positive regulator of AN biosynthesis.

Further, when the TF, AaPYL9, an ABA receptor ortholog involved in ABA regulation of AN biosynthesis was overexpressed, AN level increased (Cutler et al. 2010). AN was also increased in *A. annua*, when AabZIP1, a basic leucine zipper family transcription factor from *A. annua*, was overexpressed (Zhang et al. 2015), and transcripts of *ADS* and *CYP71AV1* in *A. annua* were also increased, suggesting that AabZIP TF also might be signal element regulating AN biosynthetic pathway.

1.8.3 Small RNAs

MicroRNAs (miRNAs), generated from folded stem-loop structures called precursor miRNAs (pre-miRNAs), are a class of small, non-protein-coding RNA sequences with an average of 21 nucleotides and some post-transcriptional regulatory functions (Breaker 2004). Although miRNAs have been identified and validated in many plant species, our knowledge of the transcriptional mechanisms of microRNA genes is limited.

MicroRNAs transcribed as parts of longer primary transcripts (pri-miRNAs), miRNAs are generated mainly by RNA polymerase II and III (Ha and Kim 2014) and have intronic and intergenic miRNA gene loci (Saini et al. 2007; Ying et al. 2010). Intronic miRNA is located within a host gene where it mainly resides in introns, so using the same promoter, intronic miRNA is transcribed in the same direction as the primary transcript. Conversely, intergenic miRNAs are transcribed as part of non-coding RNAs and are often clustered in the genome. Together this suggests that one pri-miRNA can be subsequently processed into several functional miRNAs (Saini et al. 2007; Ying et al. 2010). In plants, miRNA genes are initially transcribed into primary miRNAs by RNA polymerase II (pol II) (Zhou et al. 2007). In general, pri-miRNAs are processed into pre-miRNAs by DICER-

LIKE1, and are able to fold into a perfect or near-perfect secondary hairpin structure (Zhou et al. 2007; Voinnet 2009).

A mature miRNA has one single strand RNA that is later assembled into the RNA induced silencing complex (RISC) and directs the RISC complex to its complementary target sites in the mRNA. That miRNA then negatively regulates mRNA expression either by inhibiting the translation process or by causing its destruction (Bai et al. 2012). The activity of miRNA translation process or by causing its destruction (Bai et al. 2012). The activity of miRNA targeting mRNA is dependent on the degree of base pairing; different degrees of base pairing mediate target recognition (Tang et al. 2003). In animals, miRNAs are involved in regulating the expression of distinct genes by base-pairing with partially complementary sequences in mRNA and simply inhibiting their translation into protein (Novina and Sharp 2004). In contrast to animals, plant miRNAs generally interact with their targets through perfect or near-perfect complementarity and repress translation (Mallory et al. 2005; Nikovics et al. 2006; Meng et al. 2009). This property makes it easier to computationally predict miRNAs in plants. These predictions have been successfully applied to many model plant species. (Sunkar and Zhu 2004; Zhang et al. 2006a; Lu and Yang 2010), including Arabidopsis (Breakfield et al. 2012), rice (Campo et al. 2013), maize (Wang et al. 2011a), grape (Wang et al. 2012), soybean (Zhang et al. 2008a) and orange (Xu et al. 2010). The miRNAs are the second most abundant sRNAs in plants and act as powerful endogenous regulators, playing an important role in a wide range of developmental, biological, and metabolic processes in plants including metabolism, stress response, vegetative phase change, organogenesis, and signal transduction (Kasschau et al. 2003; Juarez et al. 2004; Mallory et al. 2005; Robert-Seilaniantz et al. 2010). To date, three common methods have been used to effectively identify miRNAs in various species: direct cloning after isolation of small RNAs via a computational strategy, express sequence tags (ESTs) analysis, and high throughput sequencing of small RNAs (Pantaleo et al. 2010; Song et al. 2010).

In *A.annua*, Pani et al. (2011) predicted six conserved miRNAs and eight potential target genes, these function in a variety of biological processes, including AN biosynthesis, signal

transduction and development. Most of the targets are unique to the *A. annua* genome, and encode the enzymes associated with AN biosynthesis pathway (Pani et al. 2011).

The miRNAs seems to remain conserved among various organisms, so this makes them valuable tools for the prediction of novel miRNAs by computational comparative genomics and has led to interesting new findings in plants (Barozai 2012, 2013). Currently, 16 novel miRNAs in A. annua have been identified from the available ESTs by using the computational genomic. These 16 new miRNAs in A. annua belong to 13 families (miR 156, 159, 160, 162, 166, 171, 172, 390, 395, 397, 535, 1310 and 4221) and their targets consist of transcription factors like; APETALA2, WRKY3, DELLA, MYB and other hypothetical proteins (Barozai 2013). With the aim of identifying possible miRNAs that may mediate regulation of AN biosynthetic pathway, Pérez-Quintero et al. (2012) identified A. annua miRNAs based on the available UniGene set. In their work, miR390 was found in libraries coming from young and mature leaf trichomes as well as meristems. Importantly, miR390 was also involved in trichome patterning and development, with mutants showing precocious production of trichomes. This makes miRNA390 an interesting candidate for A. annua transformation aiming to produce more AN in trichomes. Additionally, the miR166 and miR397 families were found in cotyledon tissues, the family miR167 in young leaf trichomes and the miR172 family in mature leaves of A.annua (Pérez-Quintero et al. 2012).

1.8.4 Other possible signal elements

1.8.4.1 Flavonoids

Buer et al. (2010) showed that flavonoids could move long distances in plants. Localized application of selective flavonoids, such as dihydrokaempferol and dihydroquercetin resulted in uptake by a variety of tissue locations: the root tip, mid-root, and cotyledons. This suggested that flavonoids could move long distances via cell-to-cell movement to distal tissues where they were then hydrolyzed to kaempferol and quercetin. In contrast, kaempferol and quercetin, which were located only at the root tip, did not move from their application position. The studies suggested that flavonoids also might be a signal element that moves from root to shoot.

1.8.4.2 Sugars

Sugars play an essential role in plant metabolism including intermediary and respiratory metabolism. Moreover, sugars are an important source for amino acid and fatty acid biosynthesis and essentially all other compounds present in plants. Thus, to our knowledge, sugars function as signal mainly to mediate plant growth, development, metabolism and alterations in gene expression and with controls similar power to hormones (Smeekens 2000). For example sugar produced in chloroplasts appeared to be a signal that was transmitted between the leaves and mediated the circadian clock in *Arabidopsis* roots (James et al. 2008). In *A. annua*, the type of carbon source influenced AN accumulation in hairy roots and seedlings; besides, *A. annua* seedlings showed that a twofold increase in AN was stimulated by glucose compared to sucrose, while fructose reduced AN levels. Taken together that study suggesting sugars could affect terpenoid production (Wang and Weathers 2007).

1.8.4.3 Protein

Additionally, protein may also be a signal candidate. For example, FLOWERING LOCUS T (FT) protein was shown to act as the long-distance florigenic signal in *Cucurbits, Arabidopsis* and other plant systems (Jaeger and Wigge 2007; Lin et al. 2007). *FT* transcription in leaf vascular tissue (phloem) and FT proteins moved through phloem to the apex as a long-distance signal that induced plant flowering (Corbesier et al. 2007). Tamaki et al. (2007) also showed Hd3a protein moved from the leaves to the shoot apical meristem and induces flowering in rice, suggesting that the Hd3a protein might be a signal factor involving in regulation of flowering in rice.

Category	Signal	Long distance	Function in A. annua	Reference
	molecule	Movement		
Phytohormone	GA	As yet	Leaf treatment increased AN and	Banyai et al. 2011;
		unknown	related gene transcripts in AN	Mansorri 2009
			biosynthetic pathway.	
	BAP	As yet	Increased trichome number and	Sa et al. 2001;
		unknown	AN level in A. annua.	Maes et al. 2008;
				Maes et al. 2011
	SA	Leaf to leaf	As signal for systemic acquired	Pu et al. 2009
			resistance (SAR) and leafs sprays	
			increased AN in A. annua.	
	JA	Leaf to leaf	Leaf treatment JA increased AN	Wang et al. 2010;
			and gene transcripts in AN	Yu et al. 2011;
			biosynthetic pathway.	Maes et al 2011
	ABA	From root to	Leaf treatment ABA increased AN	Jing et al. 2009
		shoot	and gene transcripts in AN	
			biosynthetic pathway.	
Transcription	AaWRKY1;	Move between	Bind to related gene promoters and	Han et al. 2014;
factor	AaERF1;	phloem cells	increased AN in A. annua.	Yu et al 2011; Lu
	AaERF2;			et al. 2013.
	AaORA et			
	al.			
Small RNA	miR167;	Both root-to-	Most of them involved in targeting	Pani et al. 2011;
	miR390;	shoot and	trichome development genes and	Pérez-Quintero et
	miR397 et	shoot-to-root	increased AN level.	al. 2012
	al.	movement via		
		phloem		
Sugar	Glucose	Both shoot to	Glucose stimulated AN level	Wang and
		root and root	compared to sucrose, while	Weathers 2007;
		to shoot move	fructose reduced AN level.	
Flavonoid	Dihydrokae	From root to	As yet unknown	Buer et al. 2010
	mpferol;	distal tissue		
	dihydroquer			
	cetin			
Protein	FLOWERIN	From leaf to	As yet unknown	Corbesier et al.
	G LOCUS T	shoot apex		2007
	(FT)			

Table 1. Possible mobile elements in A. annua.

1.9 Grafting as tool to study root-shoot interactions

Plant grafting was first begun during the 'Warring States' period in China, about 400 BC. With the development of civilization, grafting techniques continuously improved (Wang 2011b). Nowadays, grafting has been commonly practiced for asexual plant propagation including vegetables, flowers and fruit trees. The three most commonly used methods include: tube grafting, pin grafting and cleft grafting (Lee et al. 2010) (Fig.5A-C). Grafts connect two plant segments, the shoot part known as the 'scion' and the root part called the 'rootstock' (Melnyk and Meyerowitz 2015). Grafted plants often have better stress resistance to cold, drought, salt and pests. The specific mechanism and reason for getting a better resistance or tolerance has not been intensely investigated (Rivero et al. 2003). Tolerance to environmental stress, such as to disease in grafted plants, may result from the resistance of the rootstocks. It is known that the root system synthesizes substances resistant to pathogen attack, and these are transported to the shoot through the pathway such as phloem or xylem (Biles et al. 1989). Additionally these useful traits often enhance yields and disease tolerance in commercial agriculture (Lee et al. 2010).

Grafting also has generally become a useful tool for studying long-distance signal transduction in plants (Omid et al. 2007; Kehr and Buhtz 2012; Spiegelman et al. 2013). For example, Corbesier et al. (2007) demonstrated via grafting that FT protein was a major, graft-transmissible component of the long-distance florigen. Using different combinations of mutants, transgenic plants, and wild-type plants as scion or rootstock, it is possible to analyze reciprocal long-distance signaling mechanisms. In recent years, long-distance transport of RNA and protein through the phloem were systematically studied. For example, Molnar et al. (2010) demonstrated the several sRNAs as transmissible signals, moving from root to shoot, directing epigenetic modifications in the genome of the recipient cells. Poethig (2009) suggested that juvenile-to-adult transitions were mediated by a marked decline in the expression of miR156 in annuals. Tzarfati et al., (2013) also observed miR156 (and the related miR157, which are same miRNAs were also recently found in *A. annua*, expression rates significantly decrease compared with ungrafted control seedlings in both heterograft and

homograft citrus scions. These studies suggested that miRNAs play an important role in grafting effects (Tzarfati et al. 2013).



Figure 5 Schematic of main grafting methods. A, Pin grafting, the straight line represents the pin, the green region represents the scion, the red region represents the rootstock. B, tube grafting, the black line cylinder represents grafting tube. C, cleft grafting, the bracketed region represents grafting site.

2. Hypothesis and Objectives

2.1 Hypothesis

Early evidence is building to suggest that there is some signal factor that is moving from root to shoot to alter AN level. These putative mobile signals may regulate AN biosynthesis and the development of glandular trichomes where sesquiterpene biosynthesis occurs and AN is stored in *A. annua*.

2.2 Objectives

The overall goal was to measure and define phenotypic effects of the root on shoot production of AN. There were several specific objectives:

1.) Observe the phenotypic morphologies of all self and cross grafts from the three different *A*. *annua* cultivars including a high AN producing cultivar (SAM), a lower AN-producing cultivar (#15) and a null mutant cultivar that produces no AN or GLTs.

2.) Measure the AN level in the scions of ungrafted plants, self and cross grafts of the three different *A. annua* cultivars.

3.) Measure the development of trichomes in scions of ungrafted plants, self and cross grafts of the three different *A. annua* cultivars.

4.) Measure total flavonoid levels in scions of ungrafted plants, self and cross grafts of the three different *A. annua* cultivars.

3. Materials and methods

3.1 Plant material and cultivation conditions

The three clonal cultivars of *Artemisia annua* L. used in the study are described in Table 2. The clones were: SAM with about 1.49% (w/w) AN, clone #15 with about 0.57% (w/w)AN, and the Glandless (GLS) mutant that contained no glandular trichomes, nor AN. GLS was a gift from Stephen Duke (University of Mississippi, Oxford) (Duke et al. 1994). Plants were clonally propagated by cuttings dipped into rooting Hormodin 2 (Horticultural Tool and Supply Company) to induce rooting to insure that the outcrossing characteristics of *A. annua* L. did not result in genetic loss of secondary metabolite content. All rootstocks and grafted plants were grown in Metro Mix 360 soil (Sun Gro Inc.) at 25°C under a vegetative photoperiod of 16 h light, 8 h dark at approximately 80-120 (μ mol m⁻² sec⁻¹) in a Percival growth chamber. RH in the chamber was about 78%. All scions were clonally grown in glass-filtered natural light under a vegetative photoperiod in the lab.

Clone	AN	Tot. FLV	GLTs	Voucher	
	(% DW)	(% DW)	(+/-)		
SAM	1.49 ^a	6.4	+	MASS 00317314	
#15	0.57 ^a	6.1	+	MASS 00317313	
GLS	0.0 ^b	0.021 ^b	0 ^b	OR State University 171772	
				and 170353	

Table 2. Three clonal cultivars of A. annua L. used in this study.

^a Weathers and Towler (2012).

^b Tellez et al. (1999); Duke et al. (1994)

3.2 Grafting methods

When the plants used for rootstocks reached 4-5 cm and stem diameter was about 1mm, they were ready for grafting. Grafts used in this study are shown in Table 3. All leaves on the rootstock were removed before grafting to reduce interference of rootstock leaves on scion responses. Rootstock stems were cut horizontally at about 3.5-4 cm above the soil. Suitable scions were young, without much lignification and with a stem diameter equal to that of the

rootstock. Each scion length was about 1.5 cm and all fully expanded leaves and their axillary buds were removed except the ShAM as defined in Fig.6A. Leaf removal was to reduce water loss and enhance graft success and more importantly, to exclude the possibility that a signal might originate from rootstock leaves. In this study, there was no leaf regrowth once leaves and buds were removed from the rootstock (Fig. 6B). Rootstock and scion were quickly joined to give a tight connection inside a 0.5 cm (length), 1mm (i.d.) piece of Tubing (Tygon R-3603, Saint-Gobain, France) (Fig. 6A and B). The grafted junction was wetted with distilled water and the grafted cultivars were each set into a Magenta box GA-7 on which another magenta box GA-7 was inverted to maintain relative humidity (RH) until the graft was successful. About 6-7 days after grafting, the lid was partly opened to allow the grafted plant to adapt to the chamber environment for 2-3 days after which the lid of Magenta box was removed along with the graft tubing (Fig.6B).

Crossed grafted group		Self-graf (CONT	ted group CROL 1)	Ungrafted group (CONTROL 2)	
Graft	Rationale	Graft	Rationale	Graft	Rationale
#15/SAM	Stimulation test	#15/#15		#15	
			Grafting		Baseline
SAM/#15	Inhibition test	SAM/SAM	stress test	SAM	
GLS/SAM	Stimulation test	GLS/GLS		GLS	-
SAM/GLS	Inhibition test		1	1	

Table 3. Grafts used in this study (scion/rootstock) with experimental rationale.



Figure 6 Grafting and experimental schematic. A, experimental schematic of a grafted plant, green dashed region is scion; the red dashed region is rootstock; the light blue square with black straight line and bracket stand for a plastic tubing at the grafting point, which secures the connection between the scion and rootstock. B, photos for tube grafting at the grafted point. C, grafted plant is on left, and the right is a magnified view of the graft junction.

3.3 Harvest, extraction, and analysis of metabolites

Grafted plants were grown in the growth chamber as previously described. They were watered daily as needed and fertilized once a week with Miracle-Gro (The Scotts Miracle-Gro, Inc., Marysville, CA). During growth, grafted plants that branched or had abnormal growth morphology, e.g., yellowing or wilted leaves were discarded and not used for further analysis.
Only grafts with a single stem and green leaves were used. Scion shoots were harvested only after they had grown to \geq 14 nodes at almost 30 cm height (Fig.7A). The ShAM and leaves 5, 7, 9, 12, and 14 were harvested for metabolite analysis. At the same time leaves 10, 11, and 13 were harvested for glandular trichome analysis (Fig. 7A).

3.4 Artemisinic metabolite analysis

Harvested tissues were weighed and then put into glass test tubes with 4 ml methylene chloride. Test tubes were sealed with Dura Seal stretch film (Diversified Biotech, Cat.No.DS2-500) to eliminate evaporation and then sonicated in a water bath (FS60, Fisher Scientific) for 30 minutes. Afterwards, tissues were removed with tweezers and extracts dried under nitrogen (N-EVAP 111, Organomation Associates, Inc., Berlin, MA). Dried extracts were stored at -10°C. For analysis, they were re-suspended in methylene chloride and a 10% aliquot was used for analysis of five artemisinic metabolites. Artemisinin (AN), arteannuin B (AB), deoxyartemisinin (deoxyAN), artemisinic acid (AA), were measured in the extracts using the following GC-MS method: GC, Agilent Technologies 7890B; MSD, Agilent Technologies 5977D; column, Agilent HP-5MS ($30m \times 0.25 \text{ }\mu\text{m}$); carrier gas, He at 1 mL/min; injection volume, 1µL in splitless mode; ion source temperature, 280°C; inlet, 250°C; transfer line, 150°C. For AA and DHAA; oven temperature was 125°C held for 1 min, and then increased to 300°C at 5°C/min. Samples for AN, deoxyAN and AB analysis were re-suspended in 100 µL pentane prior to analysis. AA and DHAA were derivatized prior to injection by resuspending dried sample aliquots in 20 µL of 1:1 pyridine: bis (trimethylsilyl) trifluoroacetamide (Sigma 270407 and Restek 35605, respectively) plus 50µL pentane. Metabolites were identified via their retention time and ion signatures compared to external standards, and some mass spectra of Zhang et al. (2010). AN was from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical; deoxyAN was from Toronto Research, Inc.; AB and AA, were a gift, from Dr. Nancy Acton of the Walter Reed Army Research Institute, Silver Spring, MD. DHAA, previously identified, is labile under long term storage making true standards unreliable so it was quantified based on an AA standard and expressed as AA equivalents.



Figure 7 Grafted *Artemisia annua* **plant with ShAM and leaf numbers as need in this experiment.** A, ShAM and leaf numbers L5, 7, 9, 12 and 14 were used for secondary metabolite analysis; leaf numbers L10, 11 and 13 were used for GLT counts. The right side was the defined 'ShAM' region harvested for analysis as indicated by the white circle. B, three positions on leaf used for glandular trichome counts.

3.5 Total flavonoid analysis

Total flavonoid concentration was measured using the aluminum chloride (AlCl₃) assay described by Weathers and Towler (2014). Quercetin (5 to 25 μ g total in 1ml 1% AlCl₃ MeOH solution) was used to generate a standard curve. The blank was 1 mL 1% AlCl₃ MeOH solution in a glass test tube, capped, and incubated for 25 minutes at room temperature. After incubation, OD at 415 nm was measured using a U-2800 UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Hitachi, Inc.). Quercetin concentration (μ g/mL) was plotted against OD to generate a standard curve and a linear equation. Total flavonoid concentrations were expressed as quercetin equivalents.

3.6 Glandular trichome analysis

Leaves 10, 11, and 13 were used for comparing the number of glandular trichomes (GLTs) among all the grafted and ungrafted plants. Each leaf was placed on a glass slide with some drops of water and a cover slip to secure the sample and prevent evaporation. GLTs were observed, photographed and then counted in each of these three leaf regions: top, left and right as shown in Fig. 7B by using a Zeiss SteREO Discovery V12 fluorescence microscope under constant magnification (AxioCam MRc, GFP 470 filter, 3.5X objective, Mag Field 25X, 8mm). Three pictures of each region were randomly taken and all pictures exported to ImageJ (/http://rsbweb.nih.gov/ij/) for GLT counting. The averages of the three regions of each leaf were counted and the GLTs mm² calculated.

Total glandular trichomes per leaf were calculated based on total leaf area calculated by measuring the area of ≥ 10 leaves (for leaf 10) of each graft type using Image J. Calculations between leaf biomass and total leaf area for each graft are shown in Appendix Figure 16.

3.7 Statistical methods

There were at least 6 replicates of each grafted plant. Leaf biomass data were analyzed by one-way ANOVA. Metabolites and GLT data were averaged and analyzed using Student's t test.

4. Results

Previous studies suggested that the roots of *A. annua* played a key, but as yet unknown, role in the production of AN in the shoots (Ferreira and Janick 1996). Additionally, Kapoor et al. (2007), Mannan et al. (2010) and Nguyen et al. (2012) also provided evidence that roots were involved in the process of regulating the production of artemisinin in the shoots of *A. annua*. In this study, grafting was used to further study how the roots regulated the production of artemisinin and flavonoid biosynthesis and the response of glandular trichomes of shoots.

4.1 Vegetative phenotypes among different grafted A. annua cultivars.

Typical phenotypes of all the scions in the study are shown in Fig.8. Leaves were usually smaller in grafted scions. Glandless (GLS) scions in particular showed an unusual morphology in the shoot apical meristem (ShAM), where the youngest leaves clustered almost like a floral bud (Fig.9C). With leaf maturity, fresh mass declined in nS, but not in n15 or nG (Fig.10). Compared to ungrafted cultivars all self-grafts yielded significantly less fresh mass (Fig.10). Leaf mass increased slightly with maturity in 15 and G scions when S was the rootstock, but not in scions of S and G when 15 was the rootstock. When G was the rootstock, leaf mass was substantially less than all other un-grafted and grafted plants. Compared to their self-grafts, the biomass of G scions significantly increased when S was the rootstock (Fig.10). Conversely, the biomass of S was markedly reduced when G was the rootstock (Fig.10). Table 4 provides statistical comparisons among scion of the different grafted and ungrafted plants.

4.2 Glandular trichome development among grafted A. annua cultivars.

GLTs measured on L10, 11 and 13 all showed the same relative population patterns (Appendix), so only data from L10 are shown in detail (Fig.11). Likewise, the top, left and right positions yielded the same relative GLT populations for all mature leaves (Fig.11).



Figure 8 Representative examples of vegetative phenotypes among different grafted and ungrafted A.annua cultivars. S, Sam; 15, #15; G, Glandless cultivar; scion/rootstock.



Figure 9 Comparative phenotypes of shoot and floral buds. A, vegetative morphology for flowering. B, magnification of normal floral buds of *A. annua*, Bar = 2mm. C. vegetative phenotype of G/G. D, unusual budding of leaves of G/G, Bar = 2mm.

No GLTs were found on ungrafted G (nG) or any G grafted scions. Although nS had the lowest overall GLT populations, when S was the rootstock, GLTs significantly increased on 15 and S scions compared to their ungrafted controls. In contrast, when 15 was the rootstock, the S scion produced about 75% fewer GLTs than the 15 scion with an S rootstock. GLT populations on leaves of self-grafted plants (S/S and 15/15) increased twofold respectively compared to their corresponding ungrafted controls (nS, n15) (Fig.11). Although there were no GLTs, GLT responded similarly for its filamentous trichomes (Fig. 12C). The 15 scion of the 15/S graft had the maximum GLTs, but they were not as filled out as those from any of the S scion and ungrafted plants (Fig.12A and B). GLTs on scions of S/S had a stronger florescence with more uniform distribution than GLTs on others grafts. Fluorescence was mainly concentrated in the center of GLTs on 15 scions, especially 15/S. In contrast, however, fluorescence of S/15 was mainly on both ends of the GLTs (Fig. 12B)



Figure 10 Comparison of leaves of biomass individual among different grafted and ungrafted cultivars. S, Sam; 15, #15; G, Glandless cultivar; nS, n15 and nG are ungrafted; scion/rootstock of respective cultivars. *Error bars* are \pm SE and n = 4-9. Almost all leaf biomass among L5, L7, L9 and L12 in grafted groups significantly decreased ($p \le 0.05$) when compared with corresponding scion of ungrafted cultivar, for example nS vs S/S or S/15. However, leaves of G/S did not decrease among L5, L7, L9 and L12 after grafting when compared with nG.

4.3 Artemisinic metabolite levels among different grafted and ungrafted *A*. *annua* cultivars

When artemisinic metabolites were measured, AN yield was highest in the ShAM and all leaves of the SAM self-graft S/S among all grafted and ungrafted plants. S rootstocks also significantly increased AN in the 15 scions compared to all plants with a 15 rootstock (Fig.13A). Interestingly, when grown in the Percival growth chamber, ungrafted S (nS) contained almost the same amount of AN as ungrafted 15 (n15). For both S and 15, self-grafts produced significantly more AN than their respective ungrafted controls (Fig.13A).

The precursor to AN biosynthesis is DHAA and in the ShAM, trends were similar to AN for self-grafted compared to their ungrafted controls (Fig.13B). In contrast to AN, however, there was no significant difference between the two cross-grafts 15/S and S/15 (Fig.13B). As leaves matured, DHAA decreased substantially with fewer comparisons to be made (Fig.13B). There was almost no detectable AN or DHAA in the G scion, even when S was the rootstock.



Figure 11 GLT population density. GLT population density of leaf 10 for all grafted and ungrafted plants in the three leaf regions. S, Sam; 15, #15; G, Glandless cultivar; nS, n15 and nG are ungrafted. Scion/rootstock of respective cultivars. *Error bars* are \pm SE, n \geq 6, where * is $p \leq 0.05$ and ** is $p \leq 0.01$.

DHAA can also convert to dexoyAN (Fig.13C). In contrast to the AN production pattern, however, deoxyAN was mainly maximized in the 15/S crossed graft, but only in the leaves and not the ShAM. The S self-graft also produced more deoxyAN than the 15 self-graft (Fig.13C). Compared to the self-graft of 15, the S self-graft also produced considerably more deoxyAN than its ungrafted controls. As observed for AN, deoxyAN in ungrafted controls were not significantly different (Fig.13A, B and C).

The route from artemisinic aldehyde to AB is also an important branch in the AN biosynthetic pathway, so the level of AA and AB were also analyzed (Fig.13D and E). AA was only detected in S scions and mainly in the ShAM and grafted plants exhibited higher AA level than nS. Interestingly, in contrast with the AN data, the 15 rootstock significantly increased AA in the S scion compared to plants with an S rootstock when comparing S/15 with S/S. (Fig.13D).

A



Figure 12 part 1

Figure 12 part 2



Figure 12 Comparison of glandular and filamentous trichomes among different kinds of grafted cultivars. A, representative glandular trichomes in the same leaf position from grafted and ungrafted cultivars viewed with fluorescence microscopy; White arrows show filamentous trichomes; *bar*=0.1mm. B, morphology of single glandular trichomes from the same numbered leaf and position for different grafted cultivars; yellow dotted outline shows the otherwise barely visible perimeter of an unfilled GLT; *bar*=0.05mm. C, variation in filamentous trichomes among grafted and ungrafted glandless cultivars; *bar*=0.1mm. All photos are from right position of leaf 10; S, Sam; 15, #15; G, Glandless cultivar; nS, n15 and nG are ungrafted; scion/rootstock of respective cultivars.

AA converts to AB via an apparently non-enzymatic photo-oxygenic reaction, and AB yield showed a trend similar to that of its precursor, AA. AB was highest in ShAMs and all leaves in S/15 grafts and significantly greater in ShAMs and young leaves (ShAM-L7) of S/S grafts (Fig.13E). Grafted plants also showed greater AB levels than ungrafted plants (Fig.13E).











Figure 13 Artemisinic metabolite levels as leaves develop to leaf 14 for grafted and ungrafted A. annua cultivars. A, artemisinin(AN), B, deoxyartemisinin (deoxyAN), C, arteannuin B (AB), D, dihydroartemisinic acid (DHAA), E, artemisinic acid (AA). S, Sam; 15, #15; G, Glandless cultivar; nS, n15 and nG are ungrafted. Scion/rootstock of respective cultivars. *Error bars* are \pm SE and n \geq 6 **P* \leq 0.05, ***P* \leq 0.01.

4.4 Flavonoid levels among different grafted A. annua cultivars

Flavonoid content was highest in 15/S among all other ungrafted and grafted cultivars. The S rootstock is particular significantly elevated flavonoid levels in 15 scions, when comparing to 15 scions with a 15 rootstock. In addition, the flavonoid levels significantly decreased in S scions with a 15 rootstock (S/15) in comparison S scions with an S rootstock (S/S) (Fig.14). Self-grafts of both S and 15 produced significantly more than their corresponding ungrafted controls. Although the flavonoid levels of any G scions were very low, G self-grafts G/G were higher than nG and S/G in ShAM and young leaves (Fig.14). Both nS and n15 contained about the same amount of flavonoids with only slight difference in their ShAM. Flavonoid levels were hardly detectable among ungrafted G (nG) or any G grafted scions. Flavonoid data remained almost similar trends with GLT data. Relative differences between 15/S and 15/15 scions remained constant as leaves matured.

41



Figure 14 Flavonoid levels as leaves matured from ShAM to leaf 14 among different ungrafted and grafted A. annua cultivars. S, Sam; 15, #15; G, Glandless cultivar; nS, n15 and nG are ungrafted. Scion/rootstock of respective cultivars. *Error bars* are \pm SE and n \geq 6 **P* \leq 0.05, ***P* \leq 0.01, ****P* \leq 0.001.

4.5 Artemisinin and flavonoids in glandular trichome

Total leaf areas were calculated along with total GLTs per leaf (Fig. 15A). When the AN content per GLT was calculated (Fig 15B), the S rootstock induced more AN production in the 15 scion compared to the 15 self-graft. When S was the scion and 15 was the rootstock, AN level per GLT decreased significantly compared to the S self-graft. Flavonoid content per GLT (Fig.15C) was also measured and similar to AN per GLT, the S rootstock stimulated AN production in 15 scions compared to the 15 self-grafts. When 15 was the rootstock, the flavonoids per GLT decreased in the S scion compared to S self-grafts.



В

Α





Figure 15 Artemisinin and flavonoid level per GLT in Leaf 10 among different ungrafted and grafted *A. annua* cultivars. A. Total glandular trichome number in L10. B, artemisinin level per GLT in L10. C. Flavonoid level per GLT in L10. S, Sam; 15, #15; nS, n15 and nG are ungrafted. Scion/rootstock of respective cultivars. *Error bars* are \pm SE and n \geq 6 **P* \leq 0.05, ***P* \leq 0.01, ****P* \leq 0.001.

5. Discussion

5.1 Rootstock effects on shoot biomass and morphology

Roots of high AN-producing plants significantly affected trichome development, and AN and FLV production in A. annua. Grafting stress, as confirmed via self-grafts, also markedly decreased the leaf biomass of all grafted cultivars. Although leaf biomass gradually declined in nS as leaves matured, neither n15 nor nG showed such a decline in this study, possibly because they were different cultivars. All self-grafts yielded significantly less fresh shoot mass than ungrafted controls and G/S and G/G apical regions of shoots exhibited floral-like leaf buds, suggesting grafting stress negatively affected leaf development. Similar results also occurred in peach and tomato grafts (Glenn and Scorza 1992; Kim et al. 2001). The scion of the null mutant, G was particularly sensitive to grafting stress, resulting in altered leaf morphology in both size and ShAM development. Furthermore, the lateral branches of nG also seemed to grow faster than either n15 or nS, and the G scion of G/G also seemed to grow more rapidly; ShAMs appeared more like those of floral meristems than shoot meristems. This lateral branch extension suggested some alteration in auxin signaling akin to loss of apical dominance. Auxins such as IAA are involved in regulating apical dominance and embryonic and post-embryonic development; they influence aspects of cell division, cell elongation and cell differentiation (Went 1935; Teale et al. 2006). Interestingly, the G rootstock also stimulated lateral branch growth on S scion in S/G grafts.

The Aux/IAA protein is a transcription inhibitor (Weijers et al. 2005). Mutations in the aux/iaa gene result in auxin response factor (ARF) disorder and plants exhibit a variety of auxin-related developmental phenotypes, including altered phototropism/gravitropism, root formation, apical dominance, stem/hypocotyl elongation, leaf expansion (Rouse et al. 1998; Reed 2001). Wang et al. (2005) showed down-regulation of *IAA9*, which belongs to the subfamily of *Aux/IAA* genes, led to an inverted pattern of axillary shoot development and reduced apical dominance, a phenotype that was consistent with this study. Together these studies may explain the interesting phenotypes observed in this study for the G cultivar

including clustered and unexpanded leaves of G/G and loss of apical dominance in G/G and S/G.

Additionally, the S rootstock significantly increased young and mature leaf biomass of G scions compared to G self-grafts, while the G rootstock significantly decreased leaf biomass of S scions compared to their self-grafts. However, this response was not observed for the other two cross grafts, S/15 and 15/S compared to G. S rootstock seemed to induce more leaf biomass suggesting that rootstocks of these larger leaf cultivars stimulated leaf biomass in the smaller leaf cultivars. These phenotypes were possibly caused by long distance signals. Rahayu et al. (2005) showed root-derived cytokinins functioned as long-distance signals to mediate NO₃⁻ induced leaf growth. In addition Maes et al. (2011) also showed BAP increased both glandular and filamentous trichome development in high and low AN-producing cultivars. In this study scions of 15/S had significantly more GLTs and FLTs than S/S, leaf size, however, did not change. G scions of G/S also showed increased FLTs and larger leaf size than nG.

Gibberellin A3 and gibberellin-like substances could translocate in grafts in grafts between normal, dwarf1, and dwarf5 seedlings of *Zea mays* L. and resulted in leaf-sheath elongation (Katsumi et al. 1983). In *A. annua* Banyai et al. (2011) showed that GA₃ treatment improved leaf biomass and AN level. After GA₃ treatment FLT populations and GLTs size also increased, but only in low AN-producing cultivar (Maes et al. 2011). My study was consistent with these prior studies. The high AN-producing S rootstock significantly increased AN level in low-AN producing (15) scions vs. 15 self-grafts. Furthermore, leaf biomass of the null mutant (G) scion was also greater than G self-grafts, and the FLT population of the G scion was also greater than either the low-AN producing cultivar or the null mutant (nG). Taken together these data, suggested that root-derived GA could also be involved in the regulation of leaf size and affect GLT development on leaves.

ABA-deficient maize mutants produced less leaf biomass than wild type suggesting an important function of ABA as an inhibitor of leaf expansion (Sharp and LeNoble 2002). Sobeih et al. (2004) also showed ABA travelled long-distance from root to shoot to regulate leaf growth in tomato. Thus, ABA cannot be ignored as a root-derived signal. Depending on cultivar,

rootstocks of tomato also showed significantly different effects on leaf biomass (Rick 1952). Combined these studies suggested that phenotypic changes may be caused by a complex of phytohormones, which would not be surprising.

5.2 Rootstock effects on trichome size and populations.

There are two kinds of trichomes in *A. annua*: glandular (GLTs) and filamentous (FLTs) (Duke 1994). Although measurements in this study mainly focused on the GLTs, which produce and store AN (Duke et al. 1994), grafts including G as the scion showed that both trichome types seemed to have been affected. Whenever S was the rootstock, GLT populations in grafted scions significantly increased, but especially when 15 was the scion. On the other hand, the 15 rootstock seemed to have little to no effect on 15 scions when self-grafted or when compared to either n15 or S/15 grafts. In particular the GLT population, while similar to the self-grafts S/S and 15/15, increased fourfold when S was the rootstock for 15 vs. when 15 was the rootstock for S. While nS and S/15 were similar in GLT populations, both the S/15 and S/G grafts had significantly fewer GLTs than S/S indicating a suppression of the grafting stress response in that cultivar. Taken together these results suggested that the S rootstock stimulated GLT production in the 15 scion, but the 15 and G rootstocks both decreased GLT production in the S scion.

These differences in GLT populations could be an effect of altered levels of and/or sensitivity to jasmonic acid (JA). Wang et al. (2010a) demonstrated MeJA treatment also increased the production of AN in intact plants. MeJA similarly increased glandular trichome density on *Lycopersicon esculentum* leaves (Boughton et al. 2005).

In contrast, artificial wounding, JA treatment and SA treatment all had the same effect, increasing trichome density in *Arabidopsis* (Traw and Bergelson 2003). JA, SA, ABA (Dong 1998; Kunkel and Brooks 2002) and trichomes are all are involved in plant defense (Levin 1973). S and 15 are high and low-AN producing cultivars, respectively, so results of this study are consistent with JA affects on *A. annua* observed by Maes et al. (2010/2011). They showed that in low AN-producing cultivars, JA increased the number of GLTs and FLTs respectively,

glandular trichome size, and AN levels. On the other hand, when high AN-producing cultivars were treated with JA, GLT size did not change, and neither did AN levels; GLT numbers increased.

Although the S rootstock significantly increased the GLT populations in S and 15 scions, there was no effect on G scions; no GLTs were produced. Thus, whatever the stimulus was from S rootstocks on scions already capable of producing GLTs, it was unable to initiate GLTs in a cultivar where previously there had been none.

5.3 Rootstock effects on flavonoids

Flavonoids are also important metabolites produced in *A. annua*. Of the more than 40 flavonoids found in the plant (Ferreyra et al. 2012), >10 have some weak antimalarial activity (Lehane and Saliba 2008; Ganesh et al. 2012; Suberu et al. 2013), with some also reported to work synergistically with AN against falciparum malaria (Liu et al., 1992).

There seemed to be a close correlation between flavonoid levels and GLT populations; high flavonoid levels were found in scions that also had high GLT populations. When S was the rootstock, flavonoid levels increased in both S and 15 scions, while 15 rootstocks decreased the levels in both 15 and S scions. Flavonoids were barely detectable in G scions of ungrafted nG, or in the grafts G/G or G/S, which was not surprising since G has no GLTs (Duke et al., 1994). This observation was substantiated by a transcriptome analysis of *A. annua* GLTs, which yielded transcripts of many of the genes in flavonoid biosynthesis including phenylalanine and chalcone synthases (Wang et al. 2010b; Maes et al. 2011). Furthermore, Soetaert et al. (2013) recently showed that two dioxygenases annotated to flavonoid pathways were located in GLTs, but not FLTs. Taken together these results demonstrated that the S rootstock stimulated production of flavonoids in both S and 15 scions, suggesting there was some mobile signal moving from the root of S to the shoots. Similarly, the 15 rootstock may have a signal that moved to inhibit production of flavonoids in both S and 15 scions. While the total FLV level showed no difference between S and 15 cultivars per DW, the FLV data trended with the GLT data.

5.4 Rootstock effects on artemisinic metabolites

AN levels were measured in the ShAMs, and young and mature leaves of all ungrafted and grafted scions. Rootstocks of the high-AN producing S cultivar significantly increased the AN level in the low-AN producing 15 scion. The response was greater than in the scions of the 15 self-graft and either nS or n15. However, the highest overall AN production was in the scions of S self-grafts, demonstrating a strong grafting stress response. Overall levels were: $S/S > 15/S > S/15 > 15/15 > nS \approx n15$ with all greater than any G scions where AN was not detectable. The precursor to AN is DHAA and its production in all scions was similar to AN production levels. DeoxyAN is an alternate product stemming from DHAA. In contrast to AN, deoxyAN varied slightly in its level in grafted and ungrafted scions; highest levels were in the 15/S grafts vs. in S/S grafts as observed for AN and DHAA. Although the DHAA level was at about the same level in scions of 15/S and S/15, 15/S converted more to AN and deoxyAN than did S/15. Together these results demonstrated that the S rootstock stimulated production of DHAA, AN and deoxyAN in both S and 15 scions, suggesting there was some mobile signal moving from the root of S to the shoots resulting in stimulation of the AN/deoxyAN branch of the AN biosynthetic pathway.

There is a close relationship between GLT populations, leaf maturity and AN level (Ferreira and Janick 1996; Kapoor et al. 2007; Arsenault et al. 2010), but AN levels in this study did not correlate well with GLT populations. Nguyen et al. (2013) showed that GLTs increased in size and fullness as leaves matured and Graham et al. (2010) also observed AN level reached relatively maximum and stable at about leaf 10th and older, suggested completely maturity of GLT. Maes et al. (2011) showed that when low AN-producing and high AN-producing *A. annua* were treated with BAP, both of them significantly increased their populations of GLTs with the low AN-producers showing a greater change than high AN-producers including decreased GLT size. Artemisinic metabolites, on the other hand, showed no response to BAP and did not increase, suggesting the population of GLTs was not the only factor affecting artemisinic metabolite level. In this study, 15 and S are also low- and high-AN producing

cultivars and the S rootstock similarly increased the GLT population in both 15 and S scions, but the greater changes were in the low-AN producing 15 scion.

Compared to AN, the other artemisinic metabolite levels did not trend with GLT data. There were also considerable differences in fluorescence brightness and distribution among scions. Brightly fluorescing GLTs probably contain more secondary metabolites than GLTs with less fluorescence. S/S had large highly fluorescent GLTs suggesting they were replete with secondary metabolites, while 15/15 was brilliant overall, suggesting lower content level. Interestingly, the GLTs from 15/S scions had barely detectable fluorescence on the end perimeter of each column of trichome cells, but a more brilliant center. The alternate S/15 scion had a barely detectable fluorescence over each of the two cell columns of the GLT. Taken together with these, it seemed the varied fluorescence in GLT might correlate with varied secondary metabolite levels.

ROS plays an important role in the AN biosynthetic pathway, especially the last nonenzymatic photo-oxidative steps from DHAA \rightarrow AN and DeoxyAN, AA \rightarrow AB (Covello 2008; Mannan et al. 2010). Potters et al. (2009) showed auxin, ethylene and ROS were involving in mediating stress-induced morphogenic responses, suggesting there was a close relationship among root ROS, auxin, and shoot and GLT morphogenic responses. Nguyen et al. (2011) documented the close relationship among reactive oxygen species (ROS), roots, trichome development and artemisinic metabolites. ROS interacts with JA and SA in the plant defense signaling system (Klessig et al. 2000). NAA and IAA are also reported to induce ROS in roots (Joo et al. 2001). However, there seems to be little known about specific effects of auxins on AN biosynthesis. Woerdenbag et al. (1993) showed that *A. annua* shoots grown in MS-medium containing 0.2 mg L⁻¹ NAA yielded the maximum AN level, suggesting exogenous auxin affected AN biosynthesis. Mannan et al. (2010) showed ROS was induced when in vitrocultured *A. annua* rooted shoots were treated with DMSO resulting in increased AN in shoots. Nguyen et al. (2013) indicated that NAA might mediate the conversion of AA \rightarrow AB.

Production of AB via AA constitutes an important branch in the AN biosynthetic pathway. Neither AA nor AB was detected in any 15 scion including ungrafted 15 (n15). This result suggested that either the AA \rightarrow AB branch was inhibited in the 15 scions or that it was nonexistent in the 15 cultivar. Of particular interest is the stimulation of both AA and AB levels in the S scion when 15 was the rootstock vs. when S was the rootstock. The 15 rootstock also inhibited the production of AN, DHAA and deoxyAN in the S scions. Considering these results, it seemed that in cultivar 15 there was a shift in metabolite flux between these two pathway branches possibly where they split in a step catalyzed by DBR2. Jiang et al. (2014) showed the *DBR2* promoter is trichome-specific with the same *cis*-element also present in *ADS* and *CYP71AV1* promoters. TFs such as AaWRKY1 and AaORA may also bind to the promoter of *DBR2*, which has a key role to play in shifting carbon between the AB and AN routes in the pathway (Yang et al. 2015). It would be interesting to measure the transcripts of this gene in the various grafted and ungrafted scions of S and 15.

RNAs (mRNA, siRNA, miRNA) can function as long-distance signals from source to sink via the phloem, which connects even the most distant parts of a plant; phloem provides fast and directed systemic information transfer (Kehr and Buhtz 2008; Goldschmidt 2014). Tzarfati et al. (2013) showed grafting indeed induced changes in miRNA expression pattern in leaf petioles of *Citrus*, especially miRNA 156 and 157; these same miRNAs were also recently found in *A. annua*.

In *A. annua*, FPP serves as a common precursor of amorpha-4,11-diene and of other sesquiterpenes diverted by at least three other sesquiterpene synthases (Weathers et al. 2006) through competitive pathways. In another example, squalene synthase (SQS) is the key enzyme catalyzing the first step of the sterol biosynthetic pathway, which competes with AN biosynthesis pathway (Liu et al. 2006), so a miRNA signal may move from rootstock to GLTs on the scion to regulate or balance GLT-localized secondary metabolisms. In this study, one could consider that a rootstock-derived miRNA may translocate to the shoot and repress other pathways thereby enhancing the AN biosynthetic pathway.

5.5 Phenotype duration

Since the various scion phenotypes were analyzed several months after grafting, this suggests a persistent change including in shoot and trichome morphology as well as artemisinic and flavonoid metabolites. The duration of the long-term phenotypic changes therefore suggested there was an epigenetic alteration of the scion. This was consistent with observations by Brosnan et al. (2007) and Molnar et al. (2010) who demonstrated that an sRNA was transmitted from root to shoot and subsequently directed epigenetic modification of the genome of the recipient cells in *Arabidopsis*.

Eukaryotic genomes are modified with a diverse set of chromatin markers, which are involved in both DNA, e.g. DNA methylation, and associated histones, e.g. histone modifications. Although these changes do not alter the primary DNA sequence, they are frequently heritable through cell division, sometimes for multiple generations, and remain as altered phenotypes for the long-term (Henderson and Jacobsen 2007). Recently Fuentes et al. (2014) demonstrated that an entire nuclear genome could be transferred between rootstock and scion yielding new allopolyploids that changed chromosome sets and primary DNA sequence, suggesting even another explanation for persistent and varied phenotypes in this study.

6. Conclusions and Future Work

6.1 Conclusions

Roots are involved in regulation of artemisinin and flavonoid metabolism in *A. annua* shoots and also in trichome development. In the scion of the low-AN producing cultivar, 15, high-AN producing S rootstocks markedly enhanced GLT size and populations, as well as production of AN, deoxyAN and their precursor, DHAA. Conversely, the rootstock of the low-AN producing 15 cultivar inhibited leaf biomass, GLT size and populations, and AN, deoxyAN and DHAA levels in the scions of S, the high-AN producing cultivar. There was also a shift in the metabolite flux between the two artemisinic biosynthetic pathways from DHAA \rightarrow AN/DeoxyAN to AA \rightarrow AB with the latter branch favored when 15 was the rootstock and the former branch favored with the S rootstock. Taken together these results are consistent with one or more mobile signals that are transmitted from roots to shoots that not only regulate two branches of the AN pathway, but also the fullness and number of GLTs on the plant.

6.2 Future work

Future studies are warranted. First, the roots indeed play a pivotal role in regulating AN biosynthesis and trichome development probably by sending a mobile signal to the shoots. Identification of the chemical nature of the signal, its pathway to the shoots, its directionality (only upwards?), and eventual target all still must be studied.

Last but not least, although the root significantly affects AN and FLV biosynthesis and trichome development by possibly translocating some mobile signal factor to the shoot, it is not clear if the signal(s) either continuously or intermittently modulates the responsible genes in the pathway. Do these affects result from a permanent genetic change or are they concentration dependent to give a stimulating or inhibiting response?

7. References:

- An L, Zhou Z, Yan A, Gan Y (2011) Progress on trichome development regulated by phytohormone signaling. Plant Signaling & Behavior 6 (12):1959-1962
- Arsenault PR, Vail D, Wobbe KK, Erickson K, Weathers PJ (2010) Reproductive development modulates gene expression and metabolite levels with possible feedback inhibition of artemisinin in *Artemisia annua*. Plant physiology 154 (2):958-968
- Bai M, Yang G-S, Chen W-T, Mao Z-C, Kang H-X, Chen G-H, Yang Y-H, Xie B-Y (2012) Genome-wide identification of Dicer-like, Argonaute and RNA-dependent RNA polymerase gene families and their expression analyses in response to viral infection and abiotic stresses in *Solanum lycopersicum*. Gene 501 (1):52-62
- Banyai W, Mii M, Supaibulwatana K (2011) Enhancement of artemisinin content and biomass in *Artemisia annua* by exogenous GA3 treatment. Plant Growth Regulation 63 (1):45-54
- Barozai MYK (2012) Identification and characterization of the microRNAs and their targets in Salmo salar. Gene 499 (1):163-168
- Barozai MYK (2013) Identification of microRNAs and their targets in *Artemisia annua* L. Pakistan Journal of Botany 45 (2):461-465
- Bednarek P, Osbourn A (2009) Plant-microbe interactions: chemical diversity in plant defense. Science 324 (5928):746-748
- Bhakuni D, Goel A, Jain S, Mehrotra B, Patnaik G, Prakash V (1988) Screening of Indian plants for biological activity: Part XIII. Indian Journal of Experimental Biology 26:883-904
- Biles C, Martyn R, Wilson H (1989) Isozymes and general proteins from various watermelon cultivars and tissue types. HortScience 24 (5):810-812
- Bohm B (1998) Introduction to flavonoids. Chemistry and Biochemistry of Organic Natural Products 2
- Boughton AJ, Hoover K, Felton GW (2005) Methyl jasmonate application induces increased densities of glandular trichomes on tomato, *Lycopersicon esculentum*. Journal of Chemical Ecology 31 (9):2211-2216
- Bouwmeester HJ, Wallaart TE, Janssen MH, van Loo B, Jansen BJ, Posthumus MA, Schmidt CO, De Kraker J-W, König WA, Franssen MC (1999) Amorpha-4, 11-diene synthase catalyses the first probable step in artemisinin biosynthesis. Phytochemistry 52 (5):843-854
- Breaker RR (2004) Natural and engineered nucleic acids as tools to explore biology. Nature 432 (7019):838-845
- Breakfield NW, Corcoran DL, Petricka JJ, Shen J, Sae-Seaw J, Rubio-Somoza I, Weigel D, Ohler U, Benfey PN (2012) High-resolution experimental and computational profiling of tissue-specific known and novel miRNAs in *Arabidopsis*. Genome Research 22 (1):163-176
- Brosnan C, Mitter N, Christie M, Smith N, Waterhouse P, Carroll B (2007) Nuclear gene

silencing directs reception of long-distance mRNA silencing in *Arabidopsis*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104 (37):14741-14746

- Brown GD (2010) The biosynthesis of artemisinin (Qinghaosu) and the phytochemistry of *Artemisia annua* L.(Qinghao). Molecules 15 (11):7603-7698
- Brown GD, Sy L-K (2007) In vivo transformations of artemisinic acid in *Artemisia annua* plants. Tetrahedron 63 (38):9548-9566
- Buer CS, Imin N, Djordjevic MA (2010) Flavonoids: new roles for old molecules. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology 52 (1):98-111
- Campo S, Peris Peris C, Siré C, Moreno AB, Donaire L, Zytnicki M, Notredame C, Llave C, San Segundo B (2013) Identification of a novel microRNA (miRNA) from rice that targets an alternatively spliced transcript of the Nramp6 (Natural resistance associated macrophage protein 6) gene involved in pathogen resistance. New Phytologist 199 (1):212-227
- Cheng S, Feng X, Linling L, Cheng H, Zhang W (2012) Seasonal Pattern of Flavonoid Content and Related Enzyme Activities in Leaves of Ginkgo biloba L. Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca 40 (1):98-106
- Chien JC, Sussex IM (1996) Differential regulation of trichome formation on the adaxial and abaxial leaf surfaces by gibberellins and photoperiod in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) Heynh. Plant Physiology 111 (4):1321-1328
- Corbesier L, Vincent C, Jang S, Fornara F, Fan Q, Searle I, Giakountis A, Farrona S, Gissot L, Turnbull C (2007) FT protein movement contributes to long-distance signaling in floral induction of *Arabidopsis*. Science 316 (5827):1030-1033
- Covello PS (2008) Making artemisinin. Phytochemistry 69 (17):2881-2885
- Cutler SR, Rodriguez PL, Finkelstein RR, Abrams SR (2010) Abscisic acid: emergence of a core signaling network. Annual Reviews Plant Biology 61:651-679
- Duke MV, Paul RN, Elsohly HN, Sturtz G, Duke SO (1994) Localization of artemisinin and artemisitene in foliar tissues of glanded and glandless biotypes of *Artemisia annua* L. . International Journal of Plant Sciences 155(3):365-372
- Duke S, Canel C, Rimando A, Telle M, Duke M, Paul R (2000) Current and potential exploitation of plant glandular trichome productivity. Advances in Botanical Research 31:121-151
- Duke SO (1994) Glandular trichomes-a focal point of chemical and structural interactions. International Journal of Plant Sciences 155(6):617-620
- Duke SO, Paul RN (1993) Development and fine structure of the glandular trichomes of *Artemisia annua* L. International Journal of Plant Sciences 154(1):107-118
- Durrant W, Dong X (2004) Systemic acquired resistance. Annu Rev Phytopathol 42:185-209
- Elfawal MA, Towler MJ, Reich NG, Golenbock D, Weathers PJ, Rich SM (2012) Dried whole plant *Artemisia annua* as an antimalarial therapy. PloS One 7 (12):e52746
- Elfawal MA, Towler MJ, Reich NG, Weathers PJ, Rich SM (2015) Dried whole-plant *Artemisia annua* slows evolution of malaria drug resistance and overcomes resistance to artemisinin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 112

(3):821-826

- Elford BC, Roberts MF, Phillipson JD, Wilson RJ (1987) Potentiation of the antimalarial activity of qinghaosu by methoxylated flavones. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 81 (3):434-436
- Ferreira JF, Janick J (1995) Floral morphology of *Artemisia annua* with special reference to trichomes. International Journal of Plant Sciences 156(6):807-815
- Ferreira JF, Janick J (1996) Roots as an enhancing factor for the production of artemisinin in shoot cultures of *Artemisia annua*. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 44 (3):211-217
- Ferreyra MLF, Rius SP, Casati P (2012) Flavonoids: biosynthesis, biological functions, and biotechnological applications. Frontiers in Plant Science 3
- Firestone GL, Sundar SN (2009) Anticancer activities of artemisinin and its bioactive derivatives. Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine 11:e32
- Fox JM, Moynihan JR, Posner GH, Brown P, Civin CI, Chen X (2014) Repurposing artemisinins for treatment of acute leukemias. Cancer Research 74 (19 Supplement):818-818
- Fuentes I, Stegemann S, Golczyk H, Karcher D, Bock R (2014) Horizontal genome transfer as an asexual path to the formation of new species. Nature 511 (7508):232-235
- Gan L, Mucke L (2008) Paths of convergence: sirtuins in aging and neurodegeneration. Neuron 58 (1):10-14
- Ganesh D, Fuehrer H-P, Starzengrüber P, Swoboda P, Khan WA, Reismann JA, Mueller MS, Chiba P, Noedl H (2012) Antiplasmodial activity of flavonol quercetin and its analogues in *Plasmodium falciparum*: evidence from clinical isolates in Bangladesh and standardized parasite clones. Parasitology Research 110 (6):2289-2295
- Gang DR, Wang J, Dudareva N, Nam KH, Simon JE, Lewinsohn E, Pichersky E (2001) An investigation of the storage and biosynthesis of phenylpropenes in sweet basil. Plant Physiology 125 (2):539-555
- Glenn D, Scorza R (1992) Reciprocal grafts of standard and dwarf peach alter dry-matter partitioning and root physiology. HortScience 27 (3):241-243
- Goldschmidt EE (2014) Plant grafting: new mechanisms, evolutionary implications. Frontiers in Plant Science 5:Article 727
- Graham IA, Besser K, Blumer S, Branigan CA, Czechowski T, Elias L, Guterman I, Harvey D, Isaac PG, Khan AM (2010) The genetic map of *Artemisia annua* L. identifies loci affecting yield of the antimalarial drug artemisinin. Science 327 (5963):328-331
- Ha M, Kim VN (2014) Regulation of microRNA biogenesis. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 15 (8):509-524
- Han J, Wang H, Lundgren A, Brodelius PE (2014) Effects of overexpression of AaWRKY1 on artemisinin biosynthesis in transgenic *Artemisia annua* plants. Phytochemistry 102:89-96
- Henderson IR, Jacobsen SE (2007) Epigenetic inheritance in plants. Nature 447 (7143):418-424
- Jaeger KE, Wigge PA (2007) FT protein acts as a long-range signal in Arabidopsis. Current

Biology 17 (12):1050-1054

- James AB, Monreal JA, Nimmo GA, Kelly CL, Herzyk P, Jenkins GI, Nimmo HG (2008) The circadian clock in *Arabidopsis* roots is a simplified slave version of the clock in shoots. Science 322 (5909):1832-1835
- Jiang W, Lu X, Qiu B, Zhang F, Shen Q, Lv Z, Fu X, Yan T, Gao E, Zhu M (2014) Molecular cloning and characterization of a trichome-specific promoter of artemisinic aldehyde Δ11 (13) reductase (DBR2) in *Artemisia annua*. Plant Molecular Biology Reporter 32 (1):82-91
- Jing F, Zhang L, Li M, Tang Y, Wang Y, Wang Y, Wang Q, Pan Q, Wang G, Tang K (2009) Abscisic acid (ABA) treatment increases artemisinin content in *Artemisia annua* by enhancing the expression of genes in artemisinin biosynthetic pathway. Biologia 64 (2):319-323
- Joo JH, Bae YS, Lee JS (2001) Role of auxin-induced reactive oxygen species in root gravitropism. Plant Physiology 126 (3):1055-1060
- Juarez MT, Kui JS, Thomas J, Heller BA, Timmermans MC (2004) microRNA-mediated repression of *rolled leaf1* specifies maize leaf polarity. Nature 428 (6978):84-88
- Kapoor R, Chaudhary V, Bhatnagar A (2007) Effects of arbuscular mycorrhiza and phosphorus application on artemisinin concentration in *Artemisia annua* L. Mycorrhiza 17 (7):581-587
- Kasschau KD, Xie Z, Allen E, Llave C, Chapman EJ, Krizan KA, Carrington JC (2003) P1/HC-Pro, a viral suppressor of RNA silencing, interferes with *Arabidopsis* development and miRNA function. Developmental Cell 4 (2):205-217
- Katsumi M, Foard D, Phinney B (1983) Evidence for the translocation of gibberellin A3 and gibberellin-like substances in grafts between normal, dwarf1 and dwarf5 seedlings of *Zea mays* L. Plant and Cell Physiology 24 (3):379-388
- Kehr J, Buhtz A (2008) Long distance transport and movement of RNA through the phloem. Journal of Experimental Botany 59 (1):85-92
- Kehr J, Buhtz A (2012) Endogenous RNA constituents of the phloem and their possible roles in long - distance signaling. Phloem: Molecular Cell Biology, Systemic Communication, Biotic Interactions:186-208
- Kim M, Canio W, Kessler S, Sinha N (2001) Developmental changes due to long-distance movement of a homeobox fusion transcript in tomato. Science 293 (5528):287-289
- Kim Y, Schneider K (2013) Evolution of drug resistance in malaria parasite populations. Nature Education Knowledge 4 (8):6
- Kindermans J-M, Pilloy J, Olliaro P, Gomes M (2007) Ensuring sustained ACT production and reliable artemisinin supply. Malaria Journal 6 (1):125
- Klayman DL (1985) Qinghaosu (artemisinin): an antimalarial drug from China. Science 228 (4703):1049-1055
- Klein E (2013) Antimalarial drug resistance: a review of the biology and strategies to delay emergence and spread. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents 41 (4):311-317

- Klessig DF, Durner J, Noad R, Navarre DA, Wendehenne D, Kumar D, Zhou JM, Shah J, Zhang S, Kachroo P (2000) Nitric oxide and salicylic acid signaling in plant defense. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 97 (16):8849-8855
- Koes R, Verweij W, Quattrocchio F (2005) Flavonoids: a colorful model for the regulation and evolution of biochemical pathways. Trends in Plant Science 10 (5):236-242
- Kroumova AB, Wagner GJ (2003) Different elongation pathways in the biosynthesis of acyl groups of trichome exudate sugar esters from various solanaceous plants. Planta 216 (6):1013-1021
- Lai HC, Singh NP, Sasaki T (2013) Development of artemisinin compounds for cancer treatment. Investigational New Drugs 31 (1):230-246
- Lee J-M, Kubota C, Tsao S, Bie Z, Echevarria PH, Morra L, Oda M (2010) Current status of vegetable grafting: Diffusion, grafting techniques, automation. Scientia Horticulturae 127 (2):93-105
- Lehane AM, Saliba KJ (2008) Common dietary flavonoids inhibit the growth of the intraerythrocytic malaria parasite. BMC Research Notes 1 (1):26
- Lévesque F, Seeberger PH (2012) Continuous flow aynthesis of the anti malaria drug artemisinin. Angewandte Chemie International Edition 51 (7):1706-1709
- Levin DA (1973) The role of trichomes in plant defense. Quarterly Review of Biology:3-15
- Li AX, Steffens JC (2000) An acyltransferase catalyzing the formation of diacylglucose is a serine carboxypeptidase-like protein. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 97 (12):6902-6907
- Li L, Zhao Y, McCaig BC, Wingerd BA, Wang J, Whalon ME, Pichersky E, Howe GA (2004) The tomato homolog of CORONATINE-INSENSITIVE1 is required for the maternal control of seed maturation, jasmonate-signaled defense responses, and glandular trichome development. The Plant Cell 16 (1):126-143
- Lin M-K, Belanger H, Lee Y-J, Varkonyi-Gasic E, Taoka K-I, Miura E, Xoconostle-Cázares B, Gendler K, Jorgensen RA, Phinney B (2007) FLOWERING LOCUS T protein may act as the long-distance florigenic signal in the cucurbits. The Plant Cell 19 (5):1488-1506
- Liu C, Zhao Y, Wang Y (2006) Artemisinin: current state and perspectives for biotechnological production of an antimalarial drug. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 72 (1):11-20
- Liu KC-SC, Yang S-L, Roberts M, Elford B, Phillipson J (1992) Antimalarial activity of *Artemisia annua* flavonoids from whole plants and cell cultures. Plant Cell Reports 11 (12):637-640
- Liu S, Tian N, Li J, Huang J, Liu Z (2009) Isolation and identification of novel genes involved in artemisinin production from flowers of *Artemisia annua* using suppression subtractive hybridization and metabolite analysis. Planta Medica 75 (14):1542-1547
- Lommen W, Schenk E, Bouwmeester H, Verstappen F (2006) Trichome dynamics and artemisinin accumulation during development and senescence of *Artemisia annua*

leaves. Planta Medica 72 (4):336-345

- López-Gresa MP, Torres C, Campos L, Lisón P, Rodrigo I, Bellés JM, Conejero V (2011) Identification of defence metabolites in tomato plants infected by the bacterial pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae*. Environmental and Experimental Botany 74:216-228
- Lu X, Zhang L, Zhang F, Jiang W, Shen Q, Zhang L, Lv Z, Wang G, Tang K (2013) AaORA, a trichome specific AP2/ERF transcription factor of *Artemisia annua*, is a positive regulator in the artemisinin biosynthetic pathway and in disease resistance to Botrytis cinerea. New Phytologist 198 (4):1191-1202
- Lu Y, Yang X (2010) Computational identification of novel microRNAs and their targets in *Vigna unguiculata*. Comparative and Functional Genomics 2010
- Ma D, Pu G, Lei C, Ma L, Wang H, Guo Y, Chen J, Du Z, Wang H, Li G (2009) Isolation and characterization of AaWRKY1, an *Artemisia annua* transcription factor that regulates the amorpha-4, 11-diene synthase gene, a key gene of artemisinin biosynthesis. Plant and Cell Physiology 50 (12):2146-2161
- Maes L, Inzé D, Goossens A (2008) Functional specialization of the TRANSPARENT TESTA GLABRA1 network allows differential hormonal control of laminal and marginal trichome initiation in *Arabidopsis* rosette leaves. Plant Physiology 148 (3):1453-1464
- Maes L, Van Nieuwerburgh FC, Zhang Y, Reed DW, Pollier J, Vande Casteele SR, Inzé D, Covello PS, Deforce DL, Goossens A (2011) Dissection of the phytohormonal regulation of trichome formation and biosynthesis of the antimalarial compound artemisinin in *Artemisia annua* plants. New Phytologist 189 (1):176-189
- Malaria RB (2011) Children and malaria. RBM Infosheet (3)
- Mallory AC, Bartel DP, Bartel B (2005) MicroRNA-directed regulation of *Arabidopsis AUXIN RESPONSE FACTOR17* is essential for proper development and modulates expression of early auxin response genes. The Plant Cell 17 (5):1360-1375
- Mandal S, Upadhyay S, Wajid S, Ram M, Jain DC, Singh VP, Abdin MZ, Kapoor R (2014) Arbuscular mycorrhiza increase artemisinin accumulation in *Artemisia annua* by higher expression of key biosynthesis genes via enhanced jasmonic acid levels. Mycorrhiza:1-13
- Mannan A, Liu C, Arsenault PR, Towler MJ, Vail DR, Lorence A, Weathers PJ (2010) DMSO triggers the generation of ROS leading to an increase in artemisinin and dihydroartemisinic acid in *Artemisia annua* shoot cultures. Plant Cell Reports 29 (2):143-152
- Mansoori GA (2009) A unified perspective on the phase behaviour of petroleum fluids. International Journal of Oil, Gas and Coal Technology 2 (2):141-167
- Martensson A, Strömberg J, Sisowath C, Msellem MI, Gil JP, Montgomery SM, Olliaro P, Ali AS, Björkman A (2005) Efficacy of artesunate plus amodiaquine versus that of artemether-lumefantrine for the treatment of uncomplicated childhood *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria in Zanzibar, Tanzania. Clinical Infectious Diseases 41 (8):1079-1086

Melnyk CW, Meyerowitz EM (2015) Plant grafting. Current Biology 25 (5):R183-R188

- Meng Y, Huang F, Shi Q, Cao J, Chen D, Zhang J, Ni J, Wu P, Chen M (2009) Genome-wide survey of rice microRNAs and microRNA-target pairs in the root of a novel auxinresistant mutant. Planta 230 (5):883-898
- Mercer AE, Maggs JL, Sun X-M, Cohen GM, Chadwick J, O'Neill PM, Park BK (2007) Evidence for the involvement of carbon-centered radicals in the induction of apoptotic cell death by artemisinin compounds. Journal of Biological Chemistry 282 (13):9372-9382
- Miranda CL, Stevens JF, Ivanov V, McCall M, Frei B, Deinzer ML, Buhler DR (2000) Antioxidant and prooxidant actions of prenylated and nonprenylated chalcones and flavanones *in vitro*. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 48 (9):3876-3884
- Molnar A, Melnyk CW, Bassett A, Hardcastle TJ, Dunn R, Baulcombe DC (2010) Small silencing RNAs in plants are mobile and direct epigenetic modification in recipient cells. science 328 (5980):872-875
- Nguyen KT, Arsenault PR, Weathers PJ (2011) Trichomes+ roots+ ROS= artemisinin: regulating artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua* L. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Plant 47 (3):329-338
- Nguyen KT, Towler MJ, Weathers PJ (2013) The effect of roots and media constituents on trichomes and artemisinin production in *Artemisia annua* L. Plant Cell Reports 32 (2):207-218
- Nikovics K, Blein T, Peaucelle A, Ishida T, Morin H, Aida M, Laufs P (2006) The balance between the *MIR164A* and *CUC2* genes controls leaf margin serration in *Arabidopsis*. The Plant Cell 18 (11):2929-2945
- Novina CD, Sharp PA (2004) The rnai revolution. Nature 430 (6996):161-164

Okwa OO (2012) Malaria, a pending problem in sub-Saharan Africa. Malaria Parasites:1

- Olsson ME, Olofsson LM, Lindahl A-L, Lundgren A, Brodelius M, Brodelius PE (2009) Localization of enzymes of artemisinin biosynthesis to the apical cells of glandular secretory trichomes of *Artemisia annua* L. Phytochemistry 70 (9):1123-1128
- Omid A, Keilin T, Glass A, Leshkowitz D, Wolf S (2007) Characterization of phloem-sap transcription profile in melon plants. Journal of Experimental Botany 58 (13):3645-3656
- Paddon CJ, Keasling JD (2014) Semi-synthetic artemisinin: a model for the use of synthetic biology in pharmaceutical development. Nature Reviews Microbiology 12 (5):355-367
- Pani A, Mahapatra RK, Behera N, Naik PK (2011) Computational identification of sweet wormwood (*Artemisia annua*) microRNA and their mRNA targets. Genomics, Proteomics & Bioinformatics 9 (6):200-210
- Pantaleo V, Szittya G, Moxon S, Miozzi L, Moulton V, Dalmay T, Burgyan J (2010) Identification of grapevine microRNAs and their targets using high - throughput sequencing and degradome analysis. The Plant Journal 62 (6):960-976
- Pattanaik S, Patra B, Singh SK, Yuan L (2014) An overview of the gene regulatory network

controlling trichome development in the model plant, *Arabidopsis*. Frontiers in Plant Science 5

- Pauwels L, Inzé D, Goossens A (2009) Jasmonate-inducible gene: what does it mean? Trends in Plant Science 14 (2):87-91
- Peplow M (2013) Malaria drug made in yeast causes market ferment. Nature 494 (7436):160-161
- Perandin F, Manca N, Calderaro A, Piccolo G, Galati L, Ricci L, Medici M, Arcangeletti M, Snounou G, Dettori G (2004) Development of a real-time PCR assay for detection of *Plasmodium falciparum*, *Plasmodium vivax*, and *Plasmodium ovale* for routine clinical diagnosis. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 42 (3):1214-1219
- Perazza D, Herzog M, Hülskamp M, Brown S, Dorne A-M, Bonneville J-M (1999) Trichome cell growth in *Arabidopsis thaliana* can be derepressed by mutations in at least five genes. Genetics 152 (1):461-476
- Pérez-Quintero ÁL, Sablok G, Tatarinova TV, Conesa A, Kuo J, López C (2012) Mining of miRNAs and potential targets from gene oriented clusters of transcripts sequences of the anti-malarial plant, *Artemisia annua*. Biotechnology Letters 34 (4):737-745
- Poethig RS (2009) Small RNAs and developmental timing in plants. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development 19 (4):374-378
- Pollastri S, Tattini M (2011) Flavonols: old compounds for old roles. Annals of Botany:mcr234
- Potters G, Pasternak TP, Guisez Y, Jansen MA (2009) Different stresses, similar morphogenic responses: integrating a plethora of pathways. Plant, Cell & Environment 32 (2):158-169
- Pu G-B, Ma D-M, Chen J-L, Ma L-Q, Wang H, Li G-F, Ye H-C, Liu B-Y (2009) Salicylic acid activates artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua* L. Plant Cell Reports 28 (7):1127-1135
- Qi T, Song S, Ren Q, Wu D, Huang H, Chen Y, Fan M, Peng W, Ren C, Xie D (2011) The Jasmonate-ZIM-domain proteins interact with the WD-Repeat/bHLH/MYB complexes to regulate Jasmonate-mediated anthocyanin accumulation and trichome initiation in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. The Plant Cell 23 (5):1795-1814
- Rahayu YS, Walch-Liu P, Neumann G, Römheld V, von Wirén N, Bangerth F (2005) Rootderived cytokinins as long-distance signals for NO₃--induced stimulation of leaf growth. Journal of Experimental Botany 56 (414):1143-1152
- Rangarajan A, Hong SJ, Gifford A, Weinberg RA (2004) Species-and cell type-specific requirements for cellular transformation. Cancer Cell 6 (2):171-183
- Reed JW (2001) Roles and activities of Aux/IAA proteins in *Arabidopsis*. Trends in Plant Science 6 (9):420-425
- Rick CM (1952) The grafting relations of wilty dwarf, a new tomato mutant. American Naturalist:173-184
- Rivero RM, Ruiz JM, Romero L (2003) Role of grafting in horticultural plants under stress conditions. Journal of Food Agriculture and Environment 1:70-74
- Robert-Seilaniantz A, Bari R, Jones JD (2010) A biotic or abiotic stress? In: Abiotic Stress

Adaptation in Plants. Springer, pp 103-122

- Rouse D, Mackay P, Stirnberg P, Estelle M, Leyser O (1998) Changes in auxin response from mutations in an AUX/IAA gene. Science 279 (5355):1371-1373
- Rydén A-M, Muranaka T, Quax WJ, Kayser O (2010) The molecular cloning of dihydroartemisinic aldehyde reductase and its implication in artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua*. Planta Medica 76:1778–1783
- Sa G, Mi M, He-Chun Y, Ben-ye L, Guo-feng L, Kang C (2001) Effects of ipt gene expression on the physiological and chemical characteristics of *Artemisia annua* L. Plant Science 160 (4):691-698
- Saini HK, Griffiths-Jones S, Enright AJ (2007) Genomic analysis of human microRNA transcripts. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104 (45):17719-17724
- Saito K, Yonekura-Sakakibara K, Nakabayashi R, Higashi Y, Yamazaki M, Tohge T, Fernie AR (2013) The flavonoid biosynthetic pathway in *Arabidopsis*: structural and genetic diversity. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 72:21-34
- Samanta A, Das G, Das SK (2011) Roles of flavonoids in plants. Int J Pharm Sci Technol 6 (1):12-35
- Schachtman DP, Goodger JQ (2008) Chemical root to shoot signaling under drought. Trends in Plant Science 13 (6):281-287
- Schilmiller AL, Last RL, Pichersky E (2008) Harnessing plant trichome biochemistry for the production of useful compounds. The Plant Journal 54 (4):702-711
- Schramek N, Wang H, Römisch-Margl W, Keil B, Radykewicz T, Winzenhörlein B, Beerhues L, Bacher A, Rohdich F, Gershenzon J (2010) Artemisinin biosynthesis in growing plants of *Artemisia annua*. A 13 CO 2 study. Phytochemistry 71 (2):179-187
- Sharp RE, LeNoble ME (2002) ABA, ethylene and the control of shoot and root growth under water stress. Journal of Experimental Botany 53 (366):33-37
- Sheard LB, Tan X, Mao H, Withers J, Ben-Nissan G, Hinds TR, Kobayashi Y, Hsu F-F, Sharon M, Browse J (2010) Jasmonate perception by inositol-phosphate-potentiated COI1-JAZ co-receptor. Nature 468 (7322):400-405
- Shretta R, Yadav P (2012) Stabilizing supply of artemisinin and artemisinin-based combination therapy in an era of wide-spread scale-up. Malaria Journal 11 (399):1-10
- Smeekens S (2000) Sugar-induced signal transduction in plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology 51 (1):49-81
- Sobeih WY, Dodd IC, Bacon MA, Grierson D, Davies WJ (2004) Long-distance signals regulating stomatal conductance and leaf growth in tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) plants subjected to partial root-zone drying. Journal of Experimental Botany 55 (407):2353-2363
- Soetaert SS, Van Neste CM, Vandewoestyne ML, Head SR, Goossens A, Van Nieuwerburgh FC, Deforce DL (2013) Differential transcriptome analysis of glandular and filamentous trichomes in *Artemisia annua*. BMC Plant Biology 13 (1):220
- Song C, Wang C, Zhang C, Korir NK, Yu H, Ma Z, Fang J (2010) Deep sequencing discovery

of novel and conserved microRNAs in trifoliate orange (*Citrus trifoliata*). BMC Genomics 11 (1):431

- Souret FF, Kim Y, Wyslouzil BE, Wobbe KK, Weathers PJ (2003) Scale up of *Artemisia annua* L. hairy root cultures produces complex patterns of terpenoid gene expression. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 83 (6):653-667
- Spiegelman Z, Golan G, Wolf S (2013) Don't kill the messenger: long-distance trafficking of mRNA molecules. Plant Science 213:1-8
- Stafford HA (1991) Flavonoid evolution: an enzymic approach. Plant Physiology 96 (3):680-685
- Suberu JO, Gorka AP, Jacobs L, Roepe PD, Sullivan N, Barker GC, Lapkin AA (2013) Antiplasmodial polyvalent interactions in *Artemisia annua* L. aqueous extract–possible synergistic and resistance mechanisms. PloS One 8 (11):e80790
- Sunkar R, Zhu J-K (2004) Novel and stress-regulated microRNAs and other small RNAs from *Arabidopsis*. The Plant Cell 16 (8):2001-2019
- Tamaki S, Matsuo S, Wong HL, Yokoi S, Shimamoto K (2007) Hd3a protein is a mobile flowering signal in rice. Science 316 (5827):1033-1036
- Tang G, Reinhart BJ, Bartel DP, Zamore PD (2003) A biochemical framework for RNA silencing in plants. Genes & Development 17 (1):49-63
- Teale WD, Paponov IA, Palme K (2006) Auxin in action: signalling, transport and the control of plant growth and development. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 7 (11):847-859
- Teoh KH, Polichuk DR, Reed DW, Covello PS (2009) Molecular cloning of an aldehyde dehydrogenase implicated in artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua* Botany 87 (6):635-642
- Teoh KH, Polichuk DR, Reed DW, Nowak G, Covello PS (2006) *Artemisia annua* L.(Asteraceae) trichome-specific cDNAs reveal CYP71AV1, a cytochrome P450 with a key role in the biosynthesis of the antimalarial sesquiterpene lactone artemisinin. Febs Letters 580 (5):1411-1416
- Towler MJ, Weathers PJ (2007) Evidence of artemisinin production from IPP stemming from both the mevalonate and the nonmevalonate pathways. Plant Cell Reports 26 (12):2129-2136
- Towler MJ, Weathers PJ (2015) Variations in key artemisinic and other metabolites throughout plant development in *Artemisia annua* L. for potential therapeutic use. Industrial Crops and Products 67:185-191
- Traw MB, Bergelson J (2003) Interactive effects of jasmonic acid, salicylic acid, and gibberellin on induction of trichomes in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiology 133 (3):1367-1375
- Tuteja N (2007) Abscisic acid and abiotic stress signaling. Plant Signaling & Behavior 2 (3):135-138
- Tzarfati R, Ben-Dor S, Sela I, Goldschmidt E (2013) Graft-induced changes in microRNA expression patterns in *Citrus* leaf petioles. Open Plant Science Journal 7:17-23
- Van Nieuwerburgh S, Veldkamp L (2006) Learning asymmetries in real business cycles.

Journal of Monetary Economics 53 (4):753-772

- Vanhala L, Eeva M, Lapinjoki S, Hiltunen R, Oksman-Caldentey K-M (1998) Effect of growth regulators on transformed root cultures of *Hyoscyamus muticus*. Journal of Plant Physiology 153 (3):475-481
- Voinnet O (2009) Origin, biogenesis, and activity of plant microRNAs. Cell 136 (4):669-687
- Voirin B, Bayet C, Colson M (1993) Demonstration that flavone aglycones accumulate in the peltate glands of Mentha x piperita leaves. Phytochemistry 34 (1):85-87
- Wagner G, Wang E, Shepherd R (2004) New approaches for studying and exploiting an old protuberance, the plant trichome. Annals of Botany 93 (1):3-11
- Wallaart TE, Bouwmeester HJ, Hille J, Poppinga L, Maijers NC (2001) Amorpha-4, 11diene synthase: cloning and functional expression of a key enzyme in the biosynthetic pathway of the novel antimalarial drug artemisinin. Planta 212 (3):460-465
- Wang C, Han J, Liu C, Kibet KN, Kayesh E, Shangguan L, Li X, Fang J (2012) Identification of microRNAs from Amur grape (*Vitis amurensis Rupr.*) by deep sequencing and analysis of microRNA variations with bioinformatics. BMC Genomics 13 (1):122
- Wang H, Jones B, Li Z, Frasse P, Delalande C, Regad F, Chaabouni S, Latché A, Pech J-C, Bouzayen M (2005) The tomato *Aux/IAA* transcription factor IAA9 is involved in fruit development and leaf morphogenesis. The Plant Cell 17 (10):2676-2692
- Wang H, Ma C, Li Z, Ma L, Wang H, Ye H, Xu G, Liu B (2010a) Effects of exogenous methyl jasmonate on artemisinin biosynthesis and secondary metabolites in *Artemisia annua* L. Industrial Crops and Products 31 (2):214-218
- Wang L, Lee I-M, Zhang SM, Blumberg JB, Buring JE, Sesso HD (2009) Dietary intake of selected flavonols, flavones, and flavonoid-rich foods and risk of cancer in middle-aged and older women. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 89 (3):905-912
- Wang L, Liu H, Li D, Chen H (2011a) Identification and characterization of maize microRNAs involved in the very early stage of seed germination. BMC Genomics 12 (1):154
- Wang Y (2011b) Plant grafting and its application in biological research. Chinese Science Bulletin 56 (33):3511-3517
- Wang Y, Weathers P (2007) Sugars proportionately affect artemisinin production. Plant Cell Reports 26 (7):1073-1081
- Wang Z, Fang B, Chen J, Zhang X, Luo Z, Huang L, Chen X, Li Y (2010b) *De novo* assembly and characterization of root transcriptome using Illumina paired-end sequencing and development of cSSR markers in sweetpotato (I*pomoea batatas*). BMC Genomics 11 (1):726
- Wang Z, Yang L, Yang X, Zhang X (2014) Advances in the Chemical Synthesis of Artemisinin. Synthetic Communications 44 (14):1987-2003
- Weathers PJ, Arsenault PR, Covello PS, McMickle A, Teoh KH, Reed DW (2011) Artemisinin production in *Artemisia annua*: studies *in planta* and results of a novel delivery method for treating malaria and other neglected diseases. Phytochemistry
Reviews 10 (2):173-183

- Weathers PJ, Elkholy S, Wobbe KK (2006) Artemisinin: the biosynthetic pathway and its regulation in *Artemisia annua*, a terpenoid-rich species. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Plant 42 (4):309-317
- Weathers PJ, Jordan NJ, Lasin P, Towler MJ (2014) Simulated digestion of dried leaves of *Artemisia annua* consumed as a treatment (pACT) for malaria. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 151 (2):858-863
- Weathers PJ, Towler MJ (2012) The flavonoids casticin and artemetin are poorly extracted and are unstable in an *Artemisia annua* tea infusion. Planta Medica 78 (10):1024
- Weijers D, Benkova E, Jäger KE, Schlereth A, Hamann T, Kientz M, Wilmoth JC, Reed JW, Jürgens G (2005) Developmental specificity of auxin response by pairs of ARF and Aux/IAA transcriptional regulators. The EMBO Journal 24 (10):1874-1885
- Went FW (1935) Auxin, the plant growth-hormone. The Botanical Review 1 (5):162-182
- WHO, 2014a, World malaria report 2014, http://www.who.int/malaria/publications/ world_malaria_report_2014/wmr-2014-no-profiles.pdf?ua=1
- WHO, 2014b, Fact sheets, http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs094/en/
- Winkel BS (2006) The biosynthesis of flavonoids. In: The Science of Flavonoids. Springer, pp 71-95
- Winkel-Shirley B (2001) Flavonoid biosynthesis. A colorful model for genetics, biochemistry, cell biology, and biotechnology. Plant Physiology 126 (2):485-493
- Woerdenbag HJ, Lüers JF, van Uden W, Pras N, Malingré TM, Alfermann AW (1993) Production of the new antimalarial drug artemisinin in shoot cultures of *Artemisia annua* L. Plant cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 32 (2):247-257
- Wolucka BA, Goossens A, Inzé D (2005) Methyl jasmonate stimulates the *de novo* biosynthesis of vitamin C in plant cell suspensions. Journal of Experimental Botany 56 (419):2527-2538
- Xu Q, Liu Y, Zhu A, Wu X, Ye J, Yu K, Guo W, Deng X (2010) Discovery and comparative profiling of microRNAs in a sweet orange red-flesh mutant and its wild type. BMC Genomics 11 (1):246
- Yang K, Monafared RS, Wang H, Lundgren A, Brodelius PE (2015) The activity of the artemisinic aldehyde $\Delta 11$ (13) reductase promoter is important for artemisinin yield in different chemotypes of *Artemisia annua* L. Plant Molecular Biology:1-16
- Ying S-Y, Chang CP, Lin S-L (2010) Intron-mediated RNA interference, intronic microRNAs, and applications. In: RNA Therapeutics. Springer, pp 203-235
- Yu Z-X, Li J-X, Yang C-Q, Hu W-L, Wang L-J, Chen X-Y (2011) The jasmonate-responsive AP2/ERF transcription factors AaERF1 and AaERF2 positively regulate artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua* L. Molecular Plant:ssr087
- Yuan H, Liu D (2008) Signaling components involved in plant responses to phosphate starvation. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology 50 (7):849-859
- Zeng Q, Qiu F, Yuan L (2008) Production of artemisinin by genetically-modified microbes. Biotechnology Letters 30 (4):581-592
- Zhang B, Pan X, Anderson TA (2006a) Identification of 188 conserved maize microRNAs

and their targets. Febs Letters 580 (15):3753-3762

- Zhang B, Pan X, Stellwag EJ (2008a) Identification of soybean microRNAs and their targets. Planta 229 (1):161-182
- Zhang F, Fu X, Lv Z, Lu X, Shen Q, Zhang L, Zhu M, Wang G, Sun X, Liao Z (2015) A basic leucine zipper transcription factor, AabZIP1, connects abscisic acid signaling with artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua*. Molecular Plant 8 (1):163-175
- Zhang J, Jia W, Yang J, Ismail AM (2006b) Role of ABA in integrating plant responses to drought and salt stresses. Field Crops Research 97 (1):111-119
- Zhang Q, Ye M (2009) Chemical analysis of the Chinese herbal medicine Gan-Cao (licorice). Journal of Chromatography A 1216 (11):1954-1969
- Zhang Y, Teoh KH, Reed DW, Maes L, Goossens A, Olson DJ, Ross AR, Covello PS (2008b) The molecular cloning of artemisinic aldehyde Δ11 (13) reductase and its role in glandular trichome-dependent biosynthesis of artemisinin in *Artemisia annua*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 283 (31):21501-21508
- Zhou X, Ruan J, Wang G, Zhang W (2007) Characterization and identification of microRNA core promoters in four model species. PLoS Computational Biology 3 (3):e37
- Zhou Z, Sun L, Zhao Y, An L, Yan A, Meng X, Gan Y (2013) Zinc finger protein 6 (ZFP6) regulates trichome initiation by integrating gibberellin and cytokinin signaling in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. New Phytologist 198 (3):699-708
- Zhu C, Cook SP (2012) A concise synthesis of (+)-artemisinin. Journal of the American Chemical Society 134 (33):13577-13579

8. Appendix



nS









Figure 16 Correlation between leaf biomass and leaf area among different grafted and ungrafted cultivar. ≥ 10 leaves coming from 3 individuals of each type of grafted and ungrafted cultivar, which were used for calculating. S, Sam; 15, #15; G, Glandless cultivar; nS, n15 and nG are ungrafted. Scion/rootstock of respective cultivars.



Figure 17 GLT population density. A, GLT population density of leaf 11 for all grafted and ungrafted plants in the three leaf regions. B, GLT population density of leaf 13 for all grafted and ungrafted plants in the three leaf regions. S, Sam; 15, #15; G, Glandless cultivar; nS, n15 and nG are ungrafted. Scion/rootstock of respective cultivars. *Error bars* are ±SE, n≥ 6, where * is $p \le 0.05$ and ** is $p \le 0.01$.